

# Renewing the Social Contract: Economic Recovery in Canada from COVID-19

December 2020



An RSC Policy Briefing

# Renewing the Social Contract: Economic Recovery in Canada from COVID-19

#### An RSC Policy Briefing

#### Authors

| Christopher McCabe (Chair)<br>Vic Adamowicz | University of Alberta<br>University of Alberta |
|---|--|
| Robin Boadway                               | Queen's University                             |
| Dan Breznitz*                               | University of Toronto                          |
| Christopher Cotton                          | Queen's University                             |
| Nathalie de Marcellis-Warin                 | Polytechnique Montréal                         |
| Stewart Elgie**                             | University of Ottawa                           |
| Evelyn Forget                               | University of Manitoba                         |
| Richard Gold                                | McGill University                              |
| Esyllt Jones                                | University of Manitoba                         |
| Fabian Lange                                | McGill University                              |
| Stuart Peacock                              | Simon Fraser University                        |
| Lindsay Tedds                               | University of Calgary                          |
| Peer Review Monitor                         |  |
| Tom Marrie, FRSC                            | Dalhousie University                           |
| Peer Reviewers                              |  |
| Jack Mintz                                  | University of Calgary                          |
| Peter Nicholson                             | Canadian Institute for Climate Choices         |
| Jennifer Robson                             | Carleton University                            |
| Arthur Sweetman                             | McMaster University                            |
|   |  |

#### Suggested citation for Policy Briefing Report:

McCabe, C., Boadway, R., Lange, F., Gold, E.R., Cotton, C., Adamowicz, W., Breznitz, D., Elgie, S., Forget, E., Jones, E., de Marcellis-Warin, N., Peacock, S., Tedds, L. *Renewing the Social Contract: Economic Recovery in Canada from COVID-19.* Royal Society of Canada. 2020

#### Cover Art

Patrick Mahon, FRSC, *Messagers' Series: Satellite II* (2018-19) Painted wood veneer mounted on rice paper, pins

Patrick Mahon's series entitled *Messagers*, of which *Satellite II* is one element, is a set of approximately 15 handmade, wall-mounted constructions made of wood veneer strips, painted silver and grey. The graphic constructions range between shapes that are decorative and sometimes

geometric, to others that belie their actual flatness, some suggesting bodily forms. As an artist, Mahon is interested in the potential of these shaped works to refer to codes, glyphs and seemingly untranslatable emblems. In a world of electronic communication, where 'messaging' involves reaching across perceived divides and sometimes misperceptions—and where the languages of science and the arts may require translation with respect to each other—the works are meant to function as symbols that remind us of the necessity of innovative technologies as well as humble tools for contact and exchange.

#### Land Acknowledgement

The headquarters of the Royal Society of Canada is located in Ottawa, the traditional and unceded territory of the Algonquin Nation.

The opinions expressed in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of the Royal Society of Canada.

## **Background on the Policy Briefing Report Process**

Established by the President of the Royal Society of Canada in April 2020, the RSC Task Force on COVID-19 was mandated to provide evidence-informed perspectives on major societal challenges in response to and recovery from COVID-19.

The Task Force established a series of Working Groups to rapidly develop Policy Briefings, with the objective of supporting policy makers with evidence to inform their decisions.

#### About the Authors

*Vic Adamowicz*, Professor, Department of Resource Economics and Environmental Sociology, Faculty of Agricultural, Life and Environmental Sciences, University of Alberta

Robin Boadway, David Chadwick Smith Emeritus Professor of Economics, Queen's University

*Christopher S. Cotton,* Professor, Jarislowsky-Deutsch Chair in Economic & Financial Policy, Director, John Deutsch Institute for the Study of Economic Policy, Queen's University

Evelyn Forget, Professor, Rady Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Manitoba

*Richard Gold*, James McGill Professor, McGill Faculty of Law and McGill Faculty of Medicine, Director, Centre for Intellectual Property Policy, and Senior Fellow, Centre for International Governance Innovation

*Esyllt Jones,* Professor, Departments of History and Community Health Sciences, Dean of Studies, St John's College, University of Manitoba

*Fabian Lange*, Professor, McGill University, Research Associate at the National Bureau of Economic Research (NBER), Research Fellow of IZA, Member of CIRANO, Research Affiliate of the University of Oslo, Norway, Canada Research Chair of Labour and Personnel Economics

*Nathalie de Marcellis-Warin,* Professor, Polytechnique Montreal, CEO of CIRANO, Visiting scientist at Harvard T.H Chan School of Public Health

*Christopher McCabe (Chair),* Chief Executive Officer, Institute of Health Economics, Alberta, Professor, Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry, University of Alberta

*Stuart Peacock,* Professor and Leslie Diamond Chair in Cancer Survivorship, Faculty of Health Sciences, Simon Fraser University, Head, Cancer Control Research, BC Cancer, Co-Director, Canadian Centre for Applied Research in Cancer Control (ARCC)

*Lindsay Tedds,* Associate Professor, Department of Economics, and Scientific Director, Fiscal and Economic Policy, School of Public Policy, University of Calgary

**Dan Breznitz**, Professor, the Munk Chair of Innovation Studies and the Co-Director of the Innovation-Policy Lab at the University of Toronto and a Co-Director and Fellow of Canadian Institute for Advanced Research (CIFAR) Program on Innovation, Equity & the Future of Prosperity \*Dan Breznitz is an author on chapter 4 of the report but not a member of the Working Group

*Stewart Elgie,* Professor, Law and Economics, University of Ottawa, Chair, Smart Prosperity Institute \*\*Stewart Elgie is a co-author on chapters 3 and 4 only

#### Note from the Authors

The Working Group gratefully acknowledges the contribution of the anonymous referees, whose comments on a previous draft of this report substantially improved the final document.

Professor McCabe is grateful for the support provided by the Institute of Health Economics, Alberta. He would like to acknowledge the work of his colleagues on the Working Group, especially those who are parents to young children who added contributing to this report to their already COVID-19 enhanced workloads.

# **Table of Contents**

| Executive Summary  | 6 |
|--|---|
| Chapter 1: COVID-19 and the Canadian Economy: Harm and Opportunity             | 9 |
| Chapter 2: Recommitting to the Canadian Social Contract12                      | 2 |
| Elements of the social contract1   | 2 |
| What weaknesses in the social contract has the pandemic exposed                | 2 |
| Income supports1   | 2 |
| Public goods and services1   | 3 |
| What policies would be required to recommit to the social contract?            | 4 |
| Chapter 3: Reinvigorating the Canadian Economy for Innovation and Resilience20 | 0 |
| Background   | 0 |
| The global transition to a decarbonized economy20                              | 0 |
| Data-driven economy2   | 3 |
| Resilient supply chains24  | 4 |
| Principles for the managed transition2   | 5 |
| Chapter 4: Enabling Innovation2  | 7 |
| Chapter 5: Improving Crisis Policy Responses                                   | 2 |
| Policy in the time of crisis   | 2 |
| Institutional capability & responsiveness                                      | 3 |
| Expert preparedness  | 5 |
| Responsive and inclusive policymaking3   | 5 |
| Trust & credibility  | 8 |
| Chapter 6: Priority Recommendations4   | 0 |
| Renewing the Social Contract4  | 0 |
| Reinvigorating the Economy4  | 0 |
| Enabling Innovation4   | 1 |
| Improving Crisis Policy Responses4   | 1 |
| References4  | 2 |

#### **Executive Summary**

COVID-19 has exposed the inadequacy of Canada's crisis response infrastructure and policies. But it has exposed much broader and deeper systemic problems that flow from how we have chosen to organize our society. We have discovered the scale and depth of the Canadian precariat those individuals and households who live with combinations of insecure income with little or no savings to rely on, employment, housing and residency which make for a profoundly and relentlessly insecure life. COVID-19 has shown us how the unintended creation of the precariat, through decades-long pursuit of lower labour costs, has created a large pool of individuals who simply cannot afford to follow policies that are essential for the good of society. COVID-19 has exposed the reality that our society and economy are two sides of the same coin.

COVID-19 has also demonstrated that previously unthinkable policies can be implemented, both nationally and globally. Over the first six months of 2020, the global economy was essentially paused. Those who have argued that incrementalism is the only feasible strategy for addressing even society's most pressing issues, have been proved wrong. Massive investment will be required for Canada to recover from this crisis and with that massive investment comes the opportunity to think carefully and ambitiously about the Canada we want our children and grandchildren to inherit.

What policies and investments should we consider, as a country, to ensure we build a better Canada off the back of the COVID-19 crisis? Canada should be more <u>resistant</u> to future crises. Why was Canada the 13<sup>th</sup> country to enter into this crisis<sup>1</sup> and what might we do to reduce our exposure to global crises? Once the crisis struck, the impact was rapid, and the damage was large and inequitably distributed. What changes might we make to the structure and the policies of our society that would make Canada more <u>resilient</u>, so that we deal more effectively with future crises and return more rapidly to the pre-crisis social and economic norm. When crises strike, governments, communities, businesses and citizens must respond. What are the characteristics of an effective <u>response</u> and what physical, human and institutional capital must pre-exist for Canada to have confidence in its effective response?

#### Recommendations

With this ambition as our focus, we make the following recommendations to the federal and provincial governments.

#### **Renewing the Social Contract**

- 1. Establish a basic income guarantee (BIG) that is universally available to provide adequate income support to all persons and be responsive to economic shocks.
- 2. Reform provincial and federal labour codes to ensure paid sick leave, as this is an essential public-health policy to support a more resilient economy.
- 3. Work with provinces and territories to establish universal access to childcare that provides Early Childhood Education, to protect parents and especially mothers' opportunities for labour force participation.

4. Implement a comprehensive tax reform that enhances the fairness of taxes by broadening the tax base to treat all capital income on a par with earnings, and address intergenerational transmission of wealth inequality by re-instituting an inheritance tax.

#### Reinvigorating the Economy

- 1. Develop clean competitiveness roadmaps for each sector that target opportunities for Canada to succeed in a low-carbon global economy, and the policies, investments and actions to capture those opportunities. As a critical first step, develop long-term, low carbon infrastructure plans to support a decarbonized economy (energy, transport, buildings) and invest in building the foundational infrastructure identified in it.
- 2. Invest in a comprehensive and secure digital infrastructure to support the development of a strong domestic digital economy and enable equality of opportunity for all Canadians as consumers, innovators, employers and employees.
- 3. Invest in effective and efficient labour-force transition from carbon intensive industries through wage insurance and bridge-to-retirement mechanisms, supported by comprehensive high-quality retraining programmes.
- 4. Undertake a risk assessment of Canada's exposure to global supply chains to identify essential commodities which might merit the repatriation of manufacturing capacity.

#### **Enabling Innovation**

- 1. Develop and disseminate a clear vision for the objectives of innovation policy and specify general flexible metrics for assessing success.
- 2. Create flexible, arms-length institutions with stable, long-term funding to provide resources and programs to firms to spur innovation by sector and/or region.
- 3. Identify clear specific missions for innovation policy, such as decarbonizing the economy and accelerating the shift to and growth of the digital economy. These serve to align incentives and resources and provide a clear signal of the opportunities available to the private sector.
- 4. For truly global endeavours, such as the life sciences, government must support engagement in global research networks. Investments in building Canadian capacity must focus on leveraging Canadian research through sharing relationships, such as open science partnerships.

#### Improving Crisis Policy Responses

- 1. Establishing Standing Crisis Response Teams, made up of a broad range of experts with the necessary intellectual and physical infrastructure and secretariat services. Consideration should be given to enshrining the resourcing of these teams in law, to ensure that we make the necessary investments in public health to deal with future crises.
- 2. Develop systems for citizen engagement with a policymaking process that actively encourages and incorporates feedback from the Canadian public. This system must reach marginalized groups to understand their priorities and concerns relating to alternative options.
- 3. Fund and facilitate better data collection, including health, economic, education and environmental indicators, ensuring that these data includes demographic and socioeconomic indicators and is readily available to experts based within and outside of the public service. It

will be important to establish mechanisms to increase the frequency of data collection during crises.

4. Develop and disseminate an intersectional approach to policy development and analysis to provide decision makers with a more accurate and comprehensive picture of problems, the potential benefits and costs of solutions and how these are distributed across society, especially marginalized groups.

#### **Renewing the Social Contract: Economic Recovery in Canada from COVID-19**

#### **Chapter 1: COVID-19 and the Canadian Economy: Harm and Opportunity**

The first Canadian case of coronavirus disease (COVID-19) was detected on 25<sup>th</sup> January 2020. This was only eight weeks after the first case was diagnosed in China and meant Canada was the 13th out of 214 nations around the world to be affected. The first Canadian death from COVID-19 was announced on 9<sup>th</sup> March. On 19<sup>th</sup> March all non-essential travel between Canada and the United States was cancelled. Between 12<sup>th</sup> March and 22<sup>nd</sup> March every province and territory declared a state of emergency. By 24<sup>th</sup> March, community transmission within Canada accounted for more cases than travel-related infections. The next day the federal government announced a compulsory 14-day quarantine on all people entering Canada. The seven-day moving average of cases per day peaked on 4<sup>th</sup> May at 1,799. The following two months saw a steady decline. On the 28<sup>th</sup> June there were only 273 new cases. Unfortunately, this trend did not continue and the daily number of new cases has exceeded the peak of the first wave, with 6,299 cases on 4<sup>th</sup> December and a strong upward trend. Currently, we do not have the COVID-19 pandemic under control.<sup>2</sup>

It is clear that Canada was ill-prepared to deal with the challenges that a global pandemic brings. There have now been over 235,000 cases, and more than 10,000 deaths.<sup>3</sup> At the peak of the first wave, GDP dropped by close to 12% and 5.5 million workers' employment was affected. The federal government has pledged CAN\$325 billion to support Canadians through the crisis and economic recovery from the crisis.<sup>4</sup> This is approximately a magnitude larger than the 2009 economic stimulus response to the global financial crisis. This rapid commitment to sustained large-scale government intervention ensured that families did not starve, many businesses were not permanently shuttered and some employment opportunities, still existed when the emergency public health restrictions were lifted.

Canada's poor performance in managing the spread of a global infectious disease should not come as a surprise. In the 2003 SARS outbreak, Canada was the worst-affected country outside of Asia. The Naylor report, which was commissioned to learn the lessons from that crisis, highlighted infectious diseases as an emerging global risk for which Canada's public health capacity was ill prepared.<sup>5</sup> The report noted that while public health was primarily a provincial responsibility, the federal government did have jurisdiction over matters that were particularly pertinent to the management of global infectious disease outbreaks, including the maintenance of peace, order and good governance, quarantine provisions, national borders, as well as inter-provincial and international commerce. Naylor described a decade of calls for major investment in a coordinated pan-Canadian public health infrastructure and strategy. The evidence of serial failure by federal and provincial governments to make the investments required to protect Canada from the threat of global infectious disease is damning.

Naylor recommended the creation of a Canadian Public Health Agency, led by a Chief Public Health Officer. The proposed agency should have an explicitly collaborative approach to creating a national public health strategy with Provincial and Territorial governments. This led to the creation of the Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC) in 2004; confirmed in the 2006 Public Health Agency of Canada Act. PHAC is responsible for a number of government files including the National Emergency Strategic Stockpile, the Centre for Emergency Preparedness and Response, the National Antiviral Stockpile and the Global Public Health Intelligence Network.

PHAC did not develop a collaborative national public health response strategy for infectious disease outbreaks. A PHAC review after the 2009 H1N1 pandemic led to another call for the creation of a coordinated response plan.<sup>6</sup> This federal, provincial and territorial response plan for biological events was published in 2017,<sup>7</sup> and the mechanisms it created were triggered in January 2020 with the formation of the Pan-Canadian Public Health Network Special Advisory Committee on COVID-19.<sup>8</sup> This body produced three policy statements between 7<sup>th</sup> April and 20<sup>th</sup> May 2020. Since then, provincial and territorial governments have pursued heterogenous pandemic response strategies. The coordinated national response that Naylor called for remains absent.

Canadian federalism has served the country well in the past, allowing significant experimentation at the provincial level—public healthcare, Quebec's childcare, etc.—that is later expanded to all provinces. But in times of crisis—this crisis in particular—federalism has failed us by impeding a national response. From reallocating federal COVID-19 dollars that were meant to be spent on the elderly or schools to other provincial priorities, to resisting the roll-out of a national COVID-19 reporting app, cooperation and coordination have been lacking. Given the nature of the crisis, it was not possible to know at the outset which policies would be most effective. However, rather than using inter-provincial variation to identify solutions that could be scaled up nationally, provincial diversity has led to misallocation, misalignment and inefficiency. Long standing tensions between provincial and federal government's minority status in Parliament—with strong provincial-centric parties in opposition—only exacerbated the problem. The happenstance of political fortunes has significantly hampered the country's response to COVID-19.

COVID-19 is not like previous infectious disease emergencies such as SARS, H1N1, Zika and Ebola.<sup>9</sup> There were only 438 probable or suspected SARS cases in Canada. There have been zero cases of Ebola and only 574 cases of Zika. H1N1 infections were estimated to be 3.5 million, but deaths, at 438 people, while tragic, were much lower than from COVID-19. Perhaps it is the relatively low burden of these infectious diseases that explains the failure to invest in ways that would have protected us from the harm that COVID-19 has wrought. COVID-19 has struck all parts of our society but some groups much more than others. As Canada comes to terms with the reality of the second wave of infections, and losses in health, lives and livelihoods, it is important to learn the lessons from this comprehensive crisis because other crises will come.

COVID-19 has exposed the inadequacy of Canada's crisis response infrastructure and policies. But it has exposed much broader and deeper systemic problems that flow from how we have chosen to organize our society. We have discovered the scale and depth of the Canadian precariat those individuals and households who live with combinations of insecure income with little or no savings to rely on, employment, housing and residency which make for a profoundly and relentlessly insecure life. COVID-19 has shown us how the unintended creation of the precariat, through decades-long pursuit of lower labour costs, has created a large pool of individuals who simply cannot afford to follow policies that are essential for the good of society. COVID-19 has exposed the reality that our society and economy are two sides of the same coin.

COVID-19 has also demonstrated that previously unthinkable policies can be implemented, both nationally and globally. Over the first six months of 2020, the global economy was essentially paused. Those who have argued that incrementalism is the only feasible strategy for addressing even society's most pressing issues, have been proved wrong. Massive investment will be required for Canada to recover from this crisis and with that massive investment comes the opportunity to think carefully and ambitiously about the Canada we want our children and grandchildren to inherit.

What policies and investments should we consider, as a country, to ensure we build a better Canada off the back of the COVID-19 crisis? Canada should be more <u>resistant</u> to future crises. Why was Canada the 13<sup>th</sup> country to enter into this crisis<sup>10</sup> and what might we do to reduce our exposure to global crises? Once the crisis struck, the impact was rapid, and the damage was large and inequitably distributed. What changes might we make to the structure and the policies of our society that would make Canada more <u>resilient</u>, so that we deal more effectively with future crises and return more rapidly to the pre-crisis social and economic norm. When crises strike, governments, communities, businesses and citizens must respond. What are the characteristics of an effective <u>response</u> and what physical, human and institutional capital must pre-exist for Canada to have confidence in its effective response?

In this report, we consider how Canada might deliver on these three Rs (Resistance, Resilience and Responsiveness) through a revised social contract, a reinvigorated and truly innovative economy and a comprehensive national crisis response capacity.

## **Chapter 2: Recommitting to the Canadian Social Contract**

#### Elements of the social contract

The social contract embodies the idea that we as a society have a responsibility to support each other. The government is a key institution through which that responsibility is realized. Central to the social contract in liberal democracies is recognition of the basic equality of all individuals in society and respect for the communities to which they belong. From this idea of basic equality, it follows that the social contract includes a) a commitment to equality of opportunity that empowers individuals to realize their potential and contribute to society, and b) a responsibility to accord all members of society equal worth, voice, and status, irrespective of their personal characteristics or socioeconomic status.

Rebuilding the economy provides an opportunity to renew the social contract between the rich and the poor, the young and the old, those persons with disabilities and those without, the securely employed and the precariat, white and racialized people, and Indigenous and settler communities. This calls for strengthening the social protection system and restoring the fairness of the tax-transfer system. Rebuilding the economy gives us an opportunity to recalibrate it through policies that foster innovation, productivity and environmental stewardship. Re-energization of the social contract enhances the resistance, resilience and responsiveness of the Canadian economy and broader society to future crises. It aims to achieve the three objectives of a) enhanced social protection, b) greater equality of access to essential public services, including health, education and environmental services (clean water, air, access to nature), and c) increased economic dynamism through policies that reward innovation and productivity, and that enable all members of society to share in the gains generated.

#### What weaknesses in the social contract has the pandemic exposed?

The pandemic demonstrated very clearly the differential vulnerability to shocks and the differential access to the tools of resilience by age, race, gender, health status, ability status, employment status, income, geography and community.<sup>11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21</sup> Tools of resilience include both existing income supports and public goods and services, neither of which were sufficient to offset the unequal impact of the pandemic.

#### Income supports

Income supports include employment insurance (EI), social assistance to the long-term unemployed and persons with a disability, and support for low-income workers, entrepreneurs and those who contribute as caregivers or volunteers. The pandemic has exposed weaknesses in all three areas.

El was inadequate to address the needs of workers displaced by the pandemic. Even before the pandemic, more than 40% of workers did not qualify for any support if they lost work.<sup>22</sup> Self-employed, gig workers and part-time workers, who have less access to El than standard workers, were disproportionately affected by COVID-19. Cotton et al (2020)<sup>23</sup> demonstrate that both women and young workers were heavily and negatively affected by the pandemic.<sup>24</sup> We suspect that racialized persons were also affected disproportionately, but lack of data prevents us from being categorical.<sup>25</sup> Many worked too few hours to qualify for El, where the number of hours required depended on the region in which a worker lives. Coverage is time-limited and may last as few as 14 weeks, depending on region. Even those who collect El support received only 55% of

insured earnings to a maximum of CAN\$577 a week. Most qualified for far less than the CAN\$500 paid by the Canadian Emergency Response Benefit (CERB). More generally, EI is, at best, an imperfect insurance regime for individual risk in regular situations. In exceptional circumstances, where incentives are of minimal concern, it is too conditional and not sufficiently responsive to the variety of workers in society. Insurance for collective risk necessarily differs from insurance for individual risk. Individual risk is at least to some extent insurable through risk-pooling, including through private insurers. Collective risk cannot be insured when it occurs, though governments can spread the costs across time using public debt.

As a consequence of the limitations of EI to address collective risk, the Canada Emergency Response Benefit (CERB) was introduced as a temporary benefit, and it worked admirably to ensure that displaced workers had income support during the closure. However, the design of the CERB was less consistent with re-opening the economy. When firms began to hire back labour, few were in a position to guarantee a minimum number of hours to contingent workers. This shifted all the risk of reopening onto workers who could earn up to CAN\$1,000 per month while collecting the CERB but who would lose the entire benefit as soon as they earned CAN\$1,001. This may have created a disincentive for returning to work, though the evidence is mixed.<sup>26</sup>

The structure of the CERB echoes many provincial social assistance programs where high effective marginal tax rates apply to benefits as soon as earnings exceed a small allowance. For people on provincial disability assistance, the effective tax rates, and hence work disincentives, are substantially higher since, in most provinces, they may lose pharmacare and disability supports when they stop receiving income replacement. People who rely on provincial income assistance and disability support receive benefits well below the poverty line and often rely on services such as food banks and thrift shops to meet basic needs.<sup>27</sup> The demand for food banks increased during the pandemic, not least because children were no longer receiving school meals.<sup>28</sup> However, the pandemic disrupted food banks because of the withdrawal of volunteer labour and supply chain interruptions, but only minimal compensating benefits were offered to the poor, such as one-time top-ups to the GST credit, CCB and GIS. As well, although social assistance recipients qualified for CERB, most provinces clawed back social assistance payments for CERB recipients.<sup>29</sup>

Many low-income workers, as well as those not participating in the paid workforce and those doing volunteer work, live below the poverty line and receive relatively little support from the government. They can obtain modest amounts from refundable tax credits, but none whatsoever from non-refundable ones, such as the basic personal amount. They are not eligible for important public supports, including pharmaceutical, public housing and transportation subsidies, for which eligibility is restricted to social assistance recipients in many provinces. The pandemic exposed many of the poor to losses of income and ongoing expenditure needs, such as basic food and shelter, which they had little if any savings to finance.<sup>30</sup>

#### Public goods and services

The closure of schools, especially elementary schools, and most daycare services forced many parents out of the labour market and made visible the cost of having no social support for non-market labour. Although the pandemic exacerbated the problem and forced some daycare providers out of business, the absence of support for non-market labour pre-dated it. Women are disproportionately disadvantaged because they provide the majority of unpaid labour in society. The pandemic response and increased demand for unpaid labour generated deep anxieties that

women's labour participation rates, career paths and contribution to GDP may not recover in the post-pandemic period.<sup>31 32</sup> Given the gender dimensions of non-market labour, economic policies will need to address the societal factors that limit women's economic participation.

When many employers asked staff to work from home and schools transitioned to online instruction, the inequality of access to high-speed internet and smart devices put people living in rural and remote communities, Indigenous communities, and low-income people in urban settings at a disadvantage. At the same time, many individuals were unable to work from home and continued to perform paid labour during the lockdown. These were disproportionately low-income people working front-line jobs for low pay, in less safe working conditions. Examples include public service workers (e.g. transit), food processing workers, and retail cashiers. Often, those roles provide insufficient worker protection to allow or even encourage individuals to stay home when sick. Temporary foreign workers were an extreme illustration of this dynamic, as they had minimal employment protection and limited ability to respond to employment grievances.

The pandemic caused stresses on the healthcare system, exposing both its strengths and weaknesses. In general, hospital and physician care services responded well, which might be expected given that provincial governments fund them relatively generously. They were also able to reduce non-essential services quickly. Moreover, a leading reason for the economic shut-down was to protect the ability of hospitals and physicians to respond to the pandemic. In stark contrast, long-term care and homecare systems struggled to protect older populations in communal living facilities. Many of the public healthcare systems proved to be less than well-prepared in terms of PPE supplies and laboratory testing capacity. Public health infrastructure was completely inadequate and population track, trace and isolate systems had to be built from scratch. The long-term mental health consequences of COVID-19 remain to be seen. Again, among the most affected by COVID-19 were the already disadvantaged groups: low-income individuals and communities, and those with pre-existing health conditions related to their age and/or their socio-economic status.

The pandemic also served to highlight the importance of ecosystem services such as access to clean water and natural environment. Access to clean water for handwashing as well as drinking is paramount,<sup>33</sup> yet a significant number of communities, often Indigenous ones, have been under long-term boil water advisories.<sup>34</sup> Lockdowns generated demands for access to greenspace that is increasingly recognized as a contributor to individuals' health.<sup>35 36</sup> While Canada ranks highly in global environmental performance measures overall, a recent review by the OECD (2017)<sup>37</sup> outlines concerns in the area of water infrastructure, air quality (particulate matter), and biodiversity management, and describes specific regions where those concerns are most significant. A commitment to a social contract with Canadians should include standards around clean water, air and nature.<sup>38</sup>

#### What policies would be required to recommit to the social contract?

Ideally, policies should be put in place that ensure that all Canadians have access to economic and social supports that give them security, and that enable them to participate meaningfully in society and achieve their potential. While such a policy framework should fulfill long-term objectives, it should also be designed to withstand future health or economic shocks, which our experience of this last 20 years, during which we have now had four infectious disease outbreaks, suggests are becoming increasingly frequent. As well, economic policies should encourage development and

innovation of the Canadian economy in a way that allows the benefits to be spread to all income groups.

Current income support programs leave many groups below the poverty line. These include workers earning at or just above the minimum wage, social assistance recipients, precarious and part-time workers, many self-employed, caregivers and volunteer workers. A basic income guarantee (BIG) that varies with income, is otherwise unconditional, and is universally available to those who qualify, would provide adequate income support to all persons and be responsive to economic shocks.<sup>39</sup> <sup>40 41 42 43 44</sup> A properly designed and implemented BIG program can help to ensure that individual persons meet their basic needs. The details of a BIG program—such as the size of the guarantee, how it varies with income and personal circumstances, and how it is financed—can vary widely. However, it should have some broad design features. It should apply to working-age residents and would consist of guarantee level of income provision that is reduced as one's personal income increases. The guarantee level would correspond to the poverty level and the tax-back rate would be chosen to preserve work incentives. It would be administered by the Canada Revenue Agency in parallel with the income tax system, analogous to OAS/GIS and CCB. The guarantee level could incorporate personal characteristics like disability or family size. As studies have shown, it could be largely financed by redirecting provincial social assistance transfers as well as many of the existing refundable and non-refundable tax credits. For example, the Basic Personal Amount provides a tax credit of roughly \$2400 to most taxpayers able to claim it. If it were refundable and income-tested, it could provide the beginnings of a BIG. A BIG comparable to the marketbasket measure of poverty could be virtually fully funded by eliminating most refundable and non-refundable tax credits, including the Basic Personal Amount, along with social assistance. If necessary, this could be accompanied by broadening the income tax base by eliminating tax expenditures, such as the capital gains exemption. Such a reform could be accomplished without an increase in marginal tax rates either for BIG recipients or for higher-income persons. There are no constitutional proscriptions to the federal government implementing these income support initiatives, although federal-provincial cooperation would enhance public acceptance and allow provinces to differentiate income supports for their residents, reflecting local needs and priorities. Ideally, the development and implementation of a BIG would be a collaborative effort of the federal government and the provinces and territories, with some discretion given to each level. A BIG would not replace social insurance systems, like EI or CPP/QPP, or other social programs.

International evidence indicates that such a program would also improve health and education outcomes and enhance the opportunity for individuals to undertake risky innovative activities or to engage in socially useful non-market activities. (The importance of individuals and companies initiating innovation for the economy is discussed in Chapter 4.)

Given the particular impact of COVID-19 on education, it is noteworthy that experiments with BIG demonstrably improve education outcomes. Forget (2011)<sup>45</sup> finds that the 1970s Mincome experiment in rural Manitoba increased men's high school completion rates; in the short-lived Ontario BIG experiment, survey evidence suggests an increase in registration for community college (Ferdosi et al 2020);<sup>46</sup> and in Malawi, more women enrolled in secondary school (Baird et al 2011).<sup>47</sup>

The most consistent and well-documented beneficial effect of BIG is on physical and mental health.<sup>48 49 50 51 52</sup> Better personal and community health improves quality of life, but it also reduces the demand on healthcare resources, and the underlying chronic health conditions that drive

up mortality from infectious disease. There is also some evidence that BIG is associated with a reduction in property and violent crime.<sup>53 54</sup>

As we learned from the CERB, a benefit that responds relatively quickly to changing needs can be administered by the Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) through online accounts accompanied by special assistance for people without this access. This approach could be applied to BIG, along with a pro-active approach to encourage income tax filing so that all persons eligible for BIG actually receive it.<sup>55</sup> Incentive effects could be mitigated by choosing a tax-back rate that results in a marginal tax rate for basic income recipients that is less than that of existing provincial welfare systems while keeping the BIG affordable.<sup>56</sup> Evidence on incentive effects of a BIG is limited. Results from the Finnish basic income experiment and the Utrecht trust experiment suggested that the unemployed were *more* likely to transition towards a full-time job when they were freed from bureaucratic requirements associated with standard unemployment benefits, although this took time to happen.<sup>57 58</sup> The tax-back rate affected mainly the number of hours worked in low-quality, precarious jobs. While the Finland and Utrecht experiments were limited to long-term unemployed persons, that selection bias should not have affected the conclusions drawn. Analysis of basic income-like programs in Canada showed no significant impact on hours worked overall, though different groups had different responses.<sup>59</sup>

Special attention must be paid to ensuring that Indigenous peoples are eligible for a BIG, especially given that many do not currently file income tax returns. Canada's federal structure raises challenging problems for implementing effective national policies. This is particularly true for First Nations, Métis and Inuit whose autonomy must be respected. Inter-nation trust is essential for the cooperation required for resistance and resilience and that entails government-to-government dealings between Indigenous peoples and the federal government. We echo the call of the Truth and Reconciliation Commission for federal, provincial, territorial and municipal governments to adopt and implement the UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (UNDRIP) as the framework for reconciliation.<sup>60</sup> The repeated use of UNDRIP in all relations between Indigenous communities and nations, governments and corporations will ensure that it continues to develop as a living document to meet the diverse needs of Indigenous peoples. This requires ongoing collaboration, and a commitment to the co-development of all policies affecting Indigenous communities.

A BIG could be part of a broader tax reform that enhanced the fairness of taxes and reduced income and wealth inequality. This could include broadening the tax base to treat capital income on a par with earnings, and re-instituting a tax on inheritances to deal with the intergenerational transmission of wealth inequality. For example, the 50% exemption of capital gains and the dividend tax credit could be reduced or eliminated, and extraordinary capital gains on housing could be taxed. The sheltering of some savings in RRSPs, TFSAs and housing can be justified as a way of encouraging saving for retirement, but within limits and subject to common rules for the various types of sheltering. A comprehensive tax reform should also include corporate taxation that promotes investment and innovation and discourages the use of debt finance, thus contributing to economic resilience. A cash-flow system of corporate taxation could achieve these objectives and has been widely advocated in Australia, Canada, the UK and the US.<sup>61</sup> Under such a system, businesses would be taxed on the difference between revenues and expenditures, including cash outlays for both tangible and intangible investment. With the expensing of investment, there

would be no need for either depreciation or interest deductions. Such a system would tax the rents generated by corporations without distorting investment decisions.

As mentioned, income support reforms would not need to replace either social insurance programs, such as EI and Canada Pension Plan/Quebec Pension Plan, or public services provided by the provinces. These other programs should, however, be reformed to reinforce the social contract. EI serves as insurance against individual employment shocks; it could be reformed to recognize the growing importance of part-time work, gig work and self-employment.<sup>62</sup> EI could exist alongside a BIG, although some harmonization would be needed. Public services, such as low-income housing and disability supports, could also be enhanced. Currently, access to many public services targeting low-income households is sometimes conditional on eligibility for social assistance. This would no longer be appropriate and would need to be replaced, for example by income-testing.

The pandemic has shown the value of universal access to broadband internet access. Those with inadequate access, especially rural and poorer segments of the population, were unable to work at home and their children could not learn online.<sup>63</sup> Given the importance of the internet for shopping, banking, communications, and obtaining government services, broadband access is better viewed as a public good that needs be available to all households to ensure equality of opportunity. Whether it needs to be provided in the home or via public access sites is an open question that will be influenced by cost.

Enhancement of job retraining would also improve responsiveness to economic shocks. A BIG would allow individuals to pursue their own retraining, but that in itself is not sufficient to ensure that opportunities exist. Public sector involvement in job retraining would encourage and assist displaced and underemployed workers to improve their skills and employability. At present, job training is largely provided to workers receiving EI, although Workforce Development Agreements apply to those not covered by EI. It should be more broadly available so that self-supporting workers can invest in training. Chapter 3 examines the importance of training and retraining to support the industries of the future: environmental and digital industries.

The pandemic highlights the longstanding public failure to provide fair and adequate access to childcare, and the negative effect of this failure on productivity, workforce participation and gender disparity.<sup>64</sup> Evidence suggests that the social payoff to childcare is substantial given the benefits of encouraging female labour force participation. There is support through the tax system for the costs of childcare through the Canada Child Benefit and the tax deduction for childcare. But the availability of childcare spaces remains inadequate and may have even been eroded by the pandemic. This could be mitigated by provincial investments. To achieve inclusive and hence resilient growth, parents of young children need access to childcare.

The return on investment in childcare, both in terms of maternal employment benefits and early childhood development of children, could be considerably enhanced by combining it with early childhood education (ECE). Ranked 33 out of 35 member states, Canada has among the lowest levels of ECE enrollment in the OECD. Only 53% of Canadian children aged 0-5 are enrolled in ECE. In the 2-4 age group, only 54% of Canadian children are enrolled in ECE, while the OECD average is 79%. The shortfall exists because ECE delivery is an uneven patchwork, with quite high fees for pre-school care in many provinces. Universal, accessible and inclusive ECE should be the norm in Canada for children aged 3-5. A federal-provincial strategy for the education, recruitment

and retention of ECE workers is a priority.<sup>65</sup> The federal government funds less than 15% of public expenditure on ECE, and could play a larger leadership and financing role, leaving delivery to the provinces. Improving ECE is essential for childhood development, social and gender equity, and the resilience of the Canadian economy.

During the pandemic, too many low-income workers had inadequate access to sick leave. The ability to obtain sick leave with pay is crucial. Workers who bear the full cost and risk of staying home while ill are unlikely to do so; rather, they will attend work, putting other workers and their families at risk. This has been apparent throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, but is equally true of other circulating contagious diseases. The problem is particularly acute for workers with limited bargaining power, such as temporary foreign workers.

In 2016, Statistics Canada found that only 44% of Canadian workers had access to paid sick leave. Most provinces do not guarantee unpaid sick leave beyond 3-5 days, and none mandates paid leave for a two-week isolation period. Many did however introduce pandemic-related job-protected leave for illness and caregiving.<sup>66</sup> Sick leave coverage can be improved through careful reforms to income support programs (BIG, EI) that can be restructured to ensure coverage for those least likely to have paid sick leave, such as part-time and precarious workers. Reforming provincial and federal labour codes to ensure paid sick leave is an essential public health policy to support a more resilient economy. Once the provision is in place, it is relatively simple to rapidly implement changes to meet the needs of a particular crisis. Recent measures such as the Canada Emergency Sickness Benefit and the federal-provincial-territorial agreement supporting two weeks of paid leave are encouraging policy innovations.

Inadequate provision of high-quality care for the elderly creates broadly the same economic problems identified with childcare, plus a range of health policy concerns. The pandemic exposed the fragility of long-term care institutions, especially those that were underfunded and provided little private space to residents. The shortage of affordable high-quality long-term care facilities leads to individuals withdrawing from the workforce to care for family members.<sup>67</sup> As in the case of childcare, this imposes a burden on society over and above that imposed on the caregiver. Government policy should ensure an adequate supply of suitable long-term care whether through institutions or through developing different levels of homecare.<sup>68</sup>

Other relatively neglected areas of healthcare include pharmaceuticals, dental care and mental health. Coverage of the former two varies by provinces. Some provinces provide coverage to the elderly and those on social assistance, with most of the population relying on either private insurance or paying out of pocket. Failure to ensure that they are widely available leads to both inequities and possible increased public health costs arising from a failure to seek early and generally more efficient healthcare. Mental health is, in principle, covered by provincial health programs, but community services are highly inadequate and this failure leads to much more costly problems like homelessness, addictions and incarceration, not to mention foregone economic opportunities and increased pressures on family caregivers. The mental health effects of COVID-19 are likely to be substantial.<sup>69</sup>

Finally, various regulatory policies could serve to enhance equality of opportunity in the Canadian economy. Deregulating access to occupations by reducing licensing and certification requirements, especially for those occupations with high incomes, could reduce barriers to entry into trades and professions while enhancing mobility without sacrificing quality. Establishing a

regulatory framework to protect non-standard workers and dependent contractors, and to create obligations for employer contributions to social insurance programs like EI and CPP/QPP, would be an important component of a renewed social contract. Continuing to promote a common economic market across provinces by reducing interprovincial barriers to qualification in both the professions and the trades would contribute to equal opportunity and foster a more efficient national economy.<sup>70</sup> Reducing the restrictions on temporary foreign workers, who are among the most disadvantaged workers in Canada, could improve their wellbeing and that of their families. (Chapter 3 addresses the broader need for rapid and effective immigration across all skill levels to meet the needs of pivoting to a low-carbon and digital economy.)

Encouraging competition could facilitate the provision of a) universal and affordable access to broadband and essential productivity apps; and b) safe, healthy and reasonably priced foods. At the same time, there are situations when a regulated monopoly provider or monopsony purchaser might be in the public interest, such as a single buyer of pharmaceuticals. The time is ripe for a broader review of the social value of regulation and market power across industries. Much of the regulatory apparatus in place has been inherited from the past. Given the changes in technology and industrial organization, an evaluation of the net benefits of regulation in different sectors would be timely and valuable.

## **Chapter 3: Reinvigorating the Canadian Economy for Innovation and Resilience**

#### Background

The COVID-19 crisis has reinforced the need to be ready for major global disruptions that could affect Canada's health, economy and society. The pandemic has hit as Canada confronts several long-run social and economic trends that will affect the industrial structure of economies around the world.

Three of these structural changes are particularly important, imminent and unavoidable. First, the global transition to a decarbonized economy is gaining pace and will have profound implications for almost every sector of Canada's economy. Second, the digitization of the Canadian economy is already underway. It promises large benefits, but it also has, by its very nature, the potential to move large swathes of economic value overseas, absent necessary physical and human capital investments and appropriate regulatory environments. Third, the pandemic has also laid bare vulnerabilities of supply chains in essential goods and services to disruption by regional or global crises.

Canada's economic policies, and its public investments to stimulate post-COVID-19 economic recovery, should help build a resilient Canadian economy that is ready for major structural changes to the global economy. In particular, they should support Canada's transition to a decarbonized, digital future, and reduce its vulnerability to disruptions of its supply chains for essential commodities.

#### The global transition to a decarbonized economy

A structural transition to a lower carbon economy is underway around the world. This shift is driven by several factors: global climate agreements and associated national policies that commit governments to reduce and eventually eliminate Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions; the accelerating pace of clean technology innovation; rising effects from climate change including fires, floods, heatwaves and storms; a shift in public opinion and growing environmental activism; and a growing acceptance by global markets that decarbonization is an economic reality that is informing investment and business strategies.

The move to a decarbonized global economy causes economic disruption, which is already clearly evident in the energy and vehicle sectors. The transition to a decarbonized economy also creates significant economic opportunities across many sectors of the economy. Not just clean technology firms, but also established sectors, such as resources, agriculture and manufacturing, are competing for growing low-carbon markets estimated to reach US\$26 trillion by 2030.<sup>71</sup>

In the energy sector, the low carbon transition is already underway. Canada's clean energy sector grew 25% faster than the overall energy sector from 2007-2017, and employs over 300,000 people.<sup>72</sup> Global demand for fossil fuels (coal, oil and gas) is projected to peak in the coming decade and gradually be replaced by renewable sources, like wind, solar and hydro).<sup>73</sup> The COVID pandemic is amplifying this trend, causing decreases in global fossil fuel consumption as renewable energy generation continues to grow.<sup>74</sup>

The low-carbon transition poses a particular challenge for Canada's oil and gas sector, which is the country's largest source of GHG emissions (24%), as well as a major contributor to GDP (5.6%) and jobs (1%). These challenges are acute in Alberta, Saskatchewan and Newfoundland. Innovation

and improved environmental performance, through carbon capture and storage and other emission-reduction technologies, is critical for the industry to secure continued investment and market access. In the longer run, however, it would be unwise to ignore the significant upcoming drop in global oil demand as climate concerns grow. As a result, the industry will need either to diversify into cleaner fuels (such as hydrogen supported by efficient carbon capture technologies) and alternative products (such as carbon fibre) or face a potentially precipitous decline.

Canada's electricity sector, by contrast, is among the world leaders in decarbonizing, with over 80% of its power from emission-free sources, and a requirement to fully phase out coal power by 2030.<sup>75</sup> The continued transition to renewable power, paired with grid modernization and energy storage, will require investment and effort, but it is a critical priority. It will reduce emissions, contribute to a more diversified, reliable power system and build a competitive advantage for Canada. In a world with rising carbon prices and 'electrification' of economies—with electricity replacing fossil fuels as the preferred source of power and heat for cars, buildings and industries—being a leader in clean electricity will bring investment and wealth to Canada.

The transportation sector is also facing disruption. Automobile manufacturing generates over 300,000 jobs and CAN\$35 billion of economic activity, but also produce 22% of Canada's GHG emissions.<sup>76</sup> The worldwide shift to zero emission vehicles (ZEVs) poses existential questions for Canada's auto sector. Internal combustion engine vehicles reached peak sales in 2015, according to Bloomberg New Energy Finance, and will be overtaken by ZEV sales globally by 2035, with many countries banning the sale of gas-powered cars by then.<sup>77 78</sup> Countries that fall behind in this transition, and do not attract new investment in ZEV manufacturing and component production, will lose manufacturing capacity and jobs. Canada saw this in 2019, when GM closed its Oshawa car plant as part of a company-wide shift toward ZEV manufacturing. Canadian governments appear to understand this change, as evidenced by recent agreements with Ford and Fiat Chrysler to build electric vehicles and components in Canada, supported by large federal and provincial co-investments.

The low-carbon transition goes beyond just energy and transport; it will affect almost every sector of Canada's economy. Heavy manufacturing industries, which generate 10% of our GHG emissions, are working to transform their manufacturing processes for a net zero future. For example, Rio Tinto, Alcoa and Apple came together in 2018 to open the world's first carbon-free aluminum smelting facility in Quebec, with CAN\$60 million in support from the federal and Quebec governments.<sup>79</sup> Similar challenges and opportunities are facing the cement, nickel and steel industries, which must find a replacement for fossil fuels as the source of intense heat needed for their operations. The countries at the forefront of innovations in these fields will secure the next generation of jobs and investment.

Decarbonization is also putting growing pressure on the agriculture and forestry sectors in several ways, including: developing land management practices that store more carbon in forests and soils; moving to more efficient production; reducing waste (food and wood); but it also offers opportunities for tapping into growing markets for bio-products (fuels, chemicals, etc.). Canada's forest industry has made significant strides in lowering its carbon footprint and rethinking its business model to prepare for a low-carbon economic future.<sup>80</sup>

Smart public policies, institutions and investments are essential to help Canadian businesses, workers and communities to not only be ready for, but take advantage of, the structural change to

a low-carbon global economy. A range of different policies are required; addressing the needs of different sectors, investing in skills and infrastructure, and accelerating technology development across all stages of the innovation system. While a full assessment is beyond the scope of this report,<sup>81,82</sup> some of the key policy priorities are

- Building the foundational **infrastructure** for a decarbonized economy (energy, transport, buildings). Developing long-term, low-carbon infrastructure plans to guide investment is a critical early step.
- As Canada's largest buyer, government **procurement** is a powerful tool to drive market demand for low-carbon products and provide a testbed for promising Canadian clean technologies.
- **Carbon pricing** is widely seen as a key policy to spur low-cost emission reduction and to drive clean innovation and investment. Carbon revenues can be used to offset costs (especially for vulnerable groups) and to support low-carbon investments by businesses and households.<sup>83</sup>
- Research shows that well-designed **climate policies** can spur innovation and efficiency through (i) regulations that are stringent, flexible, and predictable,<sup>84</sup> and (ii) agile regulatory agencies that support experimentation and innovation, using tools like regulatory sandboxes.
- **Economic incentives**, such as targeted tax reductions and subsidies, can help households and businesses invest in cleaner, more efficient buildings, vehicles, appliances and other technologies to lower their carbon footprint and reduce costs. Such incentives are a particularly important tool in an economic downturn, when many households and businesses are financially stressed.
- Targeted **public co-investment** that leverages larger private investment, is an important way to attract capital to grow clean technologies and businesses in Canada (such as the recent investments in electric car manufacturing plants).
- Investing in **human capital**, such as training and education programs and strategies, to build the talent and skills needed to succeed in a low-carbon economy. These programs should promote **inclusive** growth to address inequities that have been exacerbated by the pandemic.<sup>86,87</sup>
- Work to continue building strong **international agreements** that require effective action by all nations to address global climate change. If problems arise with some nations using weak climate standards to seek competitive advantage, work with major partners on appropriate **trade measures**, such as border carbon adjustments, if needed.
- Developing **clean competitiveness roadmaps and action plans** for each sector that target opportunities for Canada to succeed in a low-carbon global economy. This was the number-one recommendation of the Expert Panel on Sustainable Finance.

In recent years, governments across Canada have started to make important progress in building this low-carbon policy architecture,<sup>88</sup> but much remains to be done. As Canadian governments invest in economic stimulus to recover from COVID-19, there is an opportunity to prioritize investments that will help Canada prepare for the transition to a low-carbon global economy— to minimize risks, build resilience and capture economic opportunities. This will require open dialogue between federal and provincial governments to develop mutually acceptable pathways across diverse positions.

#### Data-driven economy

The second large structural transformation that Canada is facing is the transition to a digital economy. Similar to building an economy reliant on renewable energy sources, this transition entails both opportunities and challenges.

The last months have demonstrated the power of communication technologies and the digital economy to help individuals adapt to the changing requirements of the crisis through telework, schooling from home and the delivery of goods. These technologies also allow individuals to obtain and relay crucial information. This builds resilience to shocks subject to there being universal access to digital infrastructure of sufficient speed and scale, enabling local firms to compete with larger firms. The pandemic has laid bare gaps in access to digital networks that are incompatible with the social contract that all Canadians can fully participate in society. The digital infrastructure needs to be a long-term investment priority ensuring that sufficient infrastructure is available to safeguard access to everyone, particularly during a crisis. In the present context, this means that Canada needs to build rural broadband infrastructure and that it needs to ensure that families from all communities have access to information technologies, enabling them to participate in the economy during both normal and crisis times. Whilst the current Universal Broadband Fund represents a strong start, larger and longer term commitments are likely to be required.<sup>89</sup> As the COVID-19 crisis illustrates too well, those without access to the internet and computing technologies find themselves essentially cut off from the economy and society in fundamental ways.

The strong network effects and the interconnectivity of the digital economy also entail new vulnerabilities. Possible disruptions can arise through the inadvertent spread of a virus or power failures, but also from foreign countries controlling crucial data, software and hardware needed for the digital economy. This calls for

- 1. Secure storage, maybe fully parallel, of essential records (property, health, etc.) required for the functioning of the economy.
- 2. A plan for how to maintain effective communication and digital infrastructure in the event of a crisis. This plan should minimize dependencies on individual foreign nations, including the US. That is, in the event that international cooperation breaks down, systems need to be in place to maintain digital access across Canada.
- 3. Redundancy in digital infrastructure so as to increase resilience in the face of possible future shocks.
- 4. Assistance to Canadian firms, particularly smaller vendors, to both build online ordering systems and to coordinate, at the local level, inexpensive delivery services to serve consumers during a crisis.

These challenges require investments in infrastructure, but also investments in human capital and innovation to support advances in the digital economy and support Canada's strength within the sector. Similar to concerns arising in energy transition, efforts should be made to make the transition inclusive (e.g. regarding inequities in opportunities for training, employment and innovation) and to address distributional effects that arise in sectors adversely affected by the transition.

#### **Resilient supply chains**

Shortly after the first case of COVID-19 was diagnosed in Canada, Health Canada identified shortages in drugs deemed to be important for its treatment. On 30<sup>th</sup> March the federal Minister of Health signed an interim order providing for some regulations to be relaxed to allow importing supplies to address these shortages.<sup>90</sup> Six months later there were 23 drugs designated under this order.

It is not only pharmaceutical supply chains that have been disrupted by COVID-19. Within Canada, the agricultural industry was particularly affected by supply-chain failure in the early months of the pandemic as consumers changed their purchasing and storage behaviours.<sup>91</sup> Lockdown and quarantine regulations also adversely and abruptly affected its labour supply.<sup>92</sup> <sup>93</sup> The multi-generational shift to global and lean supply chains across all industries that has successfully driven down the costs of goods, has impaired the resilience of those supply chains. Heavy restrictions or closures of ports and airports exacerbated the impact of lockdowns in key manufacturing countries, such as China. Initial research indicates that Canadian businesses were less well prepared and responded more slowly than did their global peers.<sup>94</sup> Federal government investment was required to support Canadian industries to re-tool to ensure access to critical supplies.<sup>95</sup> Government procurement and support for firms to retool stands out as one of the (unfortunately) few successes during the pandemic.

In light of COVID-19 challenges, Canadian businesses, and their global peers, are moving to develop new, more resilient supply chains<sup>96</sup> that take into account the possibility of low probability but high impact events such as regional and global health crises. While it is essential to recognise that effective international trade creates significant wealth for Canada, some degree of domestic production of essential commodities, especially in healthcare, is expected to be part of supply risk management in the post-COVID-19 economy.<sup>97</sup> During this crisis, Canadian firms demonstrated a capacity to shift production to novel and innovative products. To achieve resilience, Canada must ensure it has the funding to support future shifts in health product manufacture, when needed, in response to a system-wide shock. In preparation for such a contingency, Canada should put in place a regulatory emergency framework that ensures transparency and accountability for public investments even under emergency conditions.

At the same time, Canada should be under no illusions that it can make the same shift in the pharmaceutical and vaccine sector. The development of pharmaceuticals entails very large fixed costs that are best spread across many countries. Shortages of expertise and crucial resources will inevitably arise when health research has to shift to a new disease, even in the largest economies. And, during a pandemic, many different drugs and treatments need to be simultaneously pursued, most of which will turn out to have little or no therapeutic value.<sup>98</sup> No individual economy, even less so a relatively small one like Canada, can expect to rely on its domestic health-science industries to address the challenges of a pandemic.

Beyond the general challenges of innovating drugs during a pandemic lies the simple fact that Canada has not successfully built or sustained a global firm able to develop and market a drug or vaccine. This illustrates that Canada is not and is unlikely to be (in the medium-term at least) a major player in this field. Instead, Canada ought to focus on being an integral part of global drug and vaccine development efforts. Canadian science is strong and world-class. This knowledge can be leveraged to participate in global efforts and thereby secure access to innovative drugs and vaccines.<sup>99</sup> During the COVID-19 crisis, the federal government invested significant efforts in obtaining access to multiple drugs and participating in international collaborations to ensure Canada's place at the table when a drug or vaccine became available.<sup>100</sup>

#### Principles for the managed transition

The transitions to a decarbonized and digital economy are structurally similar in that both energy systems and the digital economy have elements with strong network characteristics. These make them vulnerable to shocks that can spread across large swaths of the economy. The same network characteristics, and the scale of investments that are implied, require the government to accompany and support these transitions by investing in infrastructure and public goods, both physical and institutional. The COVID-19 crisis shows how government infrastructure investment must be guided by considerations of resilience to external shocks in the post-COVID-19 economy.

Resilience also means having a pool of expertise in a variety of institutions that can provide solutions in times of crisis. This means investing in public human capital, located in universities, the civil service, and related institutions. It also means building mechanisms to enable the knowledge transfer between these experts and the federal and provincial governments, as well as other stakeholders.

Structural change of the type envisioned here involves both growing and shrinking industries. The transformation will therefore generate both winners and losers. Without any intervention, these processes will create pools of individuals and communities trapped in poverty and long-term unemployment.<sup>101</sup> In turn, this would lead to dependence on provincial income assistance programs. Chapter 2 outline the vision for a Basic Income Guarantee (BIG) as the main pillar in an income support program. However, because of the specific disruptions that come with dramatic economic restructuring, there will still be a need for a targeted system to support the transition needs of workers leaving the contracting industries and entering into emerging and growing industries. This system should pay particular attention to older and long-tenured workers because health issues and lifecycle considerations make career changes and retraining both less attractive and less feasible for them. Healthier long-tenured workers are often highly skilled. The focus here should be on incentives to reallocate those skills to new and emerging industries.

There are two pillars to an efficient support system to help buffer disruption from structural shifts in the economy. First, is a wage insurance program. Wage insurance is a program that insures workers who have lost long-term stable jobs (e.g. five years of uninterrupted employment) against the risk of an earnings loss due to a significant labour-market disruption associated with a structural economic shock, such as the shift to a low carbon and data driven economy.<sup>\*</sup> Wage insurance addresses any loss in earnings that workers might suffer because they transition to new industries in which they do not have many years of work experience or where, compared to their previous industry, they are not paid as high a wage premium. The problem is not unemployment, but rather that prior earnings are high relative to offer wages in new employment, raising the reservation

<sup>\*</sup> Wage insurance differs from the Basic Income Guarantee (BIG) detailed in Chapter 2 in that its intend is to insure against shocks to earnings experienced by workers that find themselves in industries that are undergoing rapid structural change. BIG is intended to provide a minimum income guarantee independent of any prior income earned. As such it is not targeted to offset income fluctuations. The advantage of wage insurance over traditional Employment Insurance is that it aims to provide insurance for both employment risk and wage risk associated with structural transformation. The aim is to provide this in a way that encourages workers to transition to other industries and other work where wages may be lower.

wage and thus leading to extended unemployment. The longer the period of unemployment, the greater the risk that an individual worker will not make the shift to the new sector.

Wage insurance acknowledges that skilled, long-tenured workers that have experienced a job loss due to a structural shock are likely to be able to find new employment but that they may not be able to find employment at the same level of remuneration as they had previously earned. This is especially true for workers in industries with above-average wages, such as oil and gas. The gap between remuneration levels may result in such workers remaining unemployed for longer, and the longer they remain unemployed the greater the likelihood that they do not make the shift into a new sector. Wage insurance helps ameliorate the remuneration gap by topping up earnings in the new job with an income benefit that bridges the gap between their new earnings and some measure of past earnings for a set period. Properly designed, wage insurance helps reduce labour market scarring, prevents the erosion of job skills in a skilled work force, and supports the mental health of workers in the face of a substantial shock. Wage insurance schemes are a strong financial complement to re-training programmes to support labour force transitions after structural shocks.

Important practical and political economy considerations in the design of such wage insurance programs arise. Two major problems are that the event that requires insurance, a structural shock, needs to be distinguished from gradual transformations that require slower transitions of the labour force and might be impeded by insurance programs. And, any wage insurance program entails significant transfers and might well engender rent seeking by special interest groups. These twin challenges need to be addressed when designing wage insurance programs.

The second pillar is support for older workers affected by a structural economic shock. Older workers that are near, but not quite at, retirement age may face difficult re-employment prospects due to age discrimination, deteriorating health and outdated skills. For some, the return on investment from upskilling or reskilling will be negative given their retirement plans. For these workers, 'Bridge to Retirement' programs provide a benefit that replaces a percentage of their past weekly earnings until retirement benefits commence. This protects against long-term financial and other harms resulting from short-term income losses following a structural shock. Both Canadian and U.S. governments have implemented such policies.<sup>102 103 104</sup>

Worker support programs, like the two noted above, ease transition uncertainties, as they lessen the political cost to governments of modernizing the economy, rather than continuing to subsidize economic activity that is no longer viable. These programs should, however, be designed with the goal of sustaining work incentives and avoid creating obstacles to affected groups fully participating in the Canadian economy.

#### **Chapter 4: Enabling Innovation**

Innovation contributes to the wealth of a country in three ways. First, firms in the country provide high-paying jobs and pay taxes in the country. Second, innovations introduced in the country reduce the costs of domestic firms in providing their own goods or services and/or increases the quality of those goods or services, rendering them more competitive. Third, organizational innovations leads to better or less expensive service provision by firms and governments, whether inventory management or the provision of health care through a public health care system.

While in capitalist economies firms and individuals are the key agents of technological innovation, governments have a key role in setting goals and ensuring that firms (public and private) and individuals have the resources and incentives to innovate, adopt and customize innovation to their needs. Nevertheless, there are some cases, whether because of market failures, network failures, or daunting levels of uncertainty and risk, in which governments and civil society are better placed to lead innovation than are firms.<sup>105 106 107 108 109</sup>

Despite providing research tax credits, and recent improvements in investment programs and procurement, Canada has taken a largely piecemeal approach to innovation in the private sector, with little strategy or priority for its support or efforts. Competitor countries, even supposedly strongly free-market ones such as the USA have, by contrast, intervened heavily in innovation markets through a variety of policies, ranging from procurement, grants and regulation, to the use of government-funded laboratories to advance technologies.<sup>110</sup> <sup>111</sup> <sup>112</sup> <sup>113</sup> <sup>114</sup> <sup>115</sup> While recent federal and provincial governments have increased funding and program development around innovation, they are inadequate to create the vibrant innovation eco-system needed to meet the challenges that we set out in this report. Pointedly, none has developed and implemented a cohesive strategy about how to create and maintain such an ecosystem. Instead, firms and organizations have been left to develop *ad hoc* strategies, often in contradiction to one another. For example, Montreal's success in artificial intelligence stems from its open source origins<sup>116</sup> while Toronto has adopted a proprietary approach to innovation, with most of that property transferred outside the country.<sup>117</sup> Other countries, such as France, have developed national policies to coordinate and support artificial intelligence efforts.<sup>118</sup>

The consequences of a lack of a comprehensive national or provincial innovation strategy are evident in data and studies over decades showing Canada's low performance in innovation. One of the most significant failings is the lack of business sector investment in R&D.<sup>119</sup> This is true not only in respect of breakthrough innovation, but also in terms of simple tinkering to adapt and improve existing technologies to suit business and social needs. The result is stagnant productivity growth, leading directly to slower economic growth and reduced prosperity for Canadians. Policy and organizational innovation suffer from the gutting of policy research capacity in governments as part of past cost saving exercises, and a lack of effective institutions to foster debate, develop world-class policies and support innovation.<sup>120</sup> In this chapter, we focus on policy developments required to foster technological innovation while recognizing that 'social' innovation is as important and, in some sectors—such as healthcare delivery and prevention of infection—more significant.<sup>121</sup>

Earlier in this report, we documented the need to advance innovation that has as its mission the following: 1) decarbonizing Canada's energy supply and broader economy; 2) supporting digitallyoriented firms to compete and scale-up to global markets; 3) developing a digital infrastructure that both supports those firms and through which Canadians in all regions can access government, health and educational services; and 4) engaging Canadian researchers to merge into global networks to bring new drugs to market, to maintain regulatory competency in the country, and to manufacture and deliver drugs, vaccines and other health supplies to Canadians from cities to remote regions. As discussed in Chapter 3, achieving each of these priorities requires not only capital expenditures, but investment in people and in innovation. Canada's inadequate-approach to innovation has created shortages in financial, physical and human capital that threatens Canada's ability to resist future threats and to be resilient in the face of them.<sup>122</sup>

Some commentators and politicians have promoted a cultural explanation for Canada's lack of innovation, attributing the lack of private sector investments in R&D to a 'Canadian' laziness and lack of entrepreneurial spirit.<sup>123</sup> However, industry's reaction to the COVID-19 crisis, where many firms quickly adapted novel product lines, belies this claim. While the situation and funding with respect to COVID-19 was unique, the crisis helps to illustrate that when governments identify priority 'missions' and make available the resources and appropriate incentives to address them, Canadian industry will invest to innovate.<sup>124</sup> There is thus an opportunity to formulate packages of incentives and resources that will encourage firms to do the same in respect of other priorities.

The COVID-19 crisis demonstrated Canada's need to not only actively innovate but ensure that the benefits of that innovation spread throughout the economy, across all regions and all sectors. We need to draw on the diversity of peoples in Canada as well as to develop a diverse and flexible set of approaches to increase Canada's innovation capacity. That is, Canada needs to move away from a blind focus on perceived 'hot' areas or specific technological and organizational fads, and rather address the challenges of decarbonization, a digital economy, and building networks and capacity in health innovation. Thus, while artificial intelligence has much to offer, by the time it became a hot policy object in Canada, it was already eight to ten years too late to achieve a global leadership position. Similarly, focusing on innovation intermediaries, such as accelerators, cannot replace placing the real agents of innovation—companies and individuals—at the centre of policymaking. Innovation is a collective endeavour, with a complex set of actors, interests and resources that combine in often unpredictable ways. No single solution will work in all places, for all problems, in all times, and for all sectors.<sup>125</sup> <sup>126</sup> <sup>127</sup> <sup>128</sup> <sup>129</sup>

Innovation occurs when there is competition, not only of ideas, but of institutions and approaches, private and public. Since at least the 1990s, government policy has tended to focus on universities as the source of innovation and imposed a mandate on those universities to patent and transfer technology to firms.<sup>130</sup> This has failed. Firms have not been interested in most of those patents, and university spinoffs have yet to make significant contributions to the Canadian economy. Increasing the scope of proprietary approaches to university, college and government laboratory research has cost Canada a public domain that feeds ideas, takes on high-risk projects, and reduces barriers to exchange, which is vital to firms' capacity to innovate.<sup>131</sup> Canada needs to renew its commitment to an equilibrium between proprietary and open models of innovation, particularly in respect of university and college-based research outputs, to seed greater innovation from individuals and firms.<sup>132</sup>

In both the clean technology and digital sectors, Canada needs to encourage private sector investment in innovation and to support firm scale-up. Sustainable Development Technology Canada has been a rare ray of light and professionalism. Partly due to its effort, Canada ranked 4<sup>th</sup> globally on the 2017 Global Cleantech Innovation Index<sup>133</sup> and has 12 firms among the 100 leading global clean tech firms.<sup>134</sup> However, alone it cannot change the whole landscape, not even

with regards to decarbonization. While Canada's intellectual property regime is at world standards, more attention needs to be brought to other incentives, such as procurement, regulations that drive adoption of clean technologies, tax rules, and strategic advice on intellectual property management.<sup>135</sup> It is not enough to focus on obtaining patents on everything a firm can identify; instead, a winning strategy is to focus on getting the right patents at the right time for the right business strategy, and couple that with business and financial support to ensure scaling-up to global markets. A Canadian example for such efforts are investments in private-public partnerships, such as the ELYSIS Research and Development Center, which seeks to develop breakthrough technologies that will eliminate greenhouse gas emissions from aluminium smelting.<sup>136</sup> Successful countries rely on a plethora of instruments to bolster and maintain a dynamic innovation ecosystem.

In the health sector, the goals are somewhat different: 1) to embed Canadian researchers into global research consortia to ensure ready access to developments; 2) to increase Canadian capacity to carefully yet quickly make regulatory decisions in light of technological developments; and 3) to develop Canadian manufacturing capacity for strategically important technologies, including through adaptation of innovations developed elsewhere. Intellectual property plays a secondary role and, in the case of university research, a potentially negative role, in achieving these goals. It is highly unlikely that Canada will develop the next global pharmaceutical firm. Such a strategy has been tried and failed for decades. Structuring future supports around this elusive goal comes at the opportunity cost of aligning incentives and support that will enable Canada to handle future health crises.

As this report highlights, Canada needs to resist future crises, be resilient in the face of those crises, and have institutions and actors respond quickly to them. Innovation policy can contribute to these goals in three ways. First, it can create wealth and can distribute that wealth equitably by ensuring that our interventions in the innovation ecosystem aim at the great diversity of our population, rather than a subset. Through what is termed Distribution-Sensitive Innovation Policies (DSIP), Canada can create conditions that lessen the occurrence of crises that specifically target the poor and minority communities, in the way that COVID-19 has.<sup>137</sup> Such efforts extend beyond technological innovation to innovation in the health, food delivery and social sectors. Second, supporting a diverse set of innovators—private as well as public—within a strong ecosystem positions the country well to address the causes of a future crisis. Third, creating institutions that are flexible, stable and have long-term support will render Canada more responsive so as to quickly address crises.

Innovation policy is an act of constant experimentation, weeding the failures and scaling-up the successes. Canada needs institutions that have the flexibility, stable funding, and mandate to experiment. The country needs to not only embrace failure as a key component of innovation and innovation policy, but also recognize that not failing enough means that we are not trying hard enough. To develop these institutions—at the federal, provincial and even local levels—the following approach is needed:<sup>138</sup>

 Governments need to develop a clear vision of what they hope to achieve through innovation and then develop clear but general metrics of what they want to increase, be it private investment, jobs, foreign investment or risk-taking. Flexibility entails that these metrics be general and apply across sectors and regions; accountability means that the metrics need to be specific in terms of the overall outcomes one hopes to attain; embracing failure calls for failure targets that represent the desired amount of risk.

- Governments should create institutions with simple and flexible sets of resources (depending on sector and region) that target companies at all levels of the production network, aimed at supporting a diverse set of firms in the innovation ecosystem.
- Earlier, we set out overall goals, or missions, for government to pursue through innovation. These need to be clear and realistic. These missions ought not to be large—such as moonshots or establishing Canada as a world centre for pharmaceutical innovation—but more targeted goals addressing the decarbonization of key sectors (e.g. energy, transport, buildings, agriculture), the establishment of a digital infrastructure for Canada and the development of networks and competency in health innovation.
- These missions serve to align incentives and resources so that the private sector knows what needs to be developed and knows the resources available to do the work. This includes supporting intellectual property acquisition by Canadian energy and digital firms—although not universities—and management support and strategy for scaling-up firms to compete effectively in global markets.
- Given that the priority for the health sector is to engage in global research networks and to build Canadian capacity, the focus should be on leveraging Canadian research through sharing relationships, such as open science partnerships, an area in which Canada has some leadership.
- Governments need to proactively intervene to educate and train people and to provide resources to firms, even—or especially—when those firms do not realize that they need to invest in R&D. This includes providing strategic advice on intellectual property management and new, adapted to Canada, business models for SMEs.
- Governments need to develop and enact policies (regulations, taxes, linkages to global firms, and funding rules, among many others) that provide incentives to stimulate individuals with the requisite skills, and firms, to innovate in Canada.
- Governments need to ensure that regulators have the skills, capacity, agility and mandate to support experimentation and innovation.
- Governments should lead by example by, for example, using procurement to support and nurture innovation, and building advanced infrastructure that provide the foundation and networks that underlie innovation.
- Governments must invest in and, in some cases, carry on directly work that opens up fields, working in conjunction with firms. Government has the unique ability to hire researchers to take on challenges, such as vaccines, that other actors cannot because of risk or long-time horizon.
- Governments need to always remember that the only two agents of innovation in the market are firms and individuals, and hence, each policy <u>or</u> program needs to have a clear articulation of how its action leads to an increase in those agents and improves their success potential. The past two decades have seen a major focus on supporting the intermediaries of innovation, be they accelerators, venture capitalists, or 'ecosystem' builders. This focus has taken governments' eyes off the ultimate focus of innovation policy: the primary agents of innovation.

The above set of recommendations are hardly groundbreaking: they represent not only the consensus of Canadian experts, but are based on the best learning from other countries, such as Israel, Taiwan and Germany. Governments play a critical role in first creating and then sustaining innovation ecosystems by trying—and many times failing—to provide targeted assistance to firms and their private and public sector partners and collaborators. Canada should engage in novel collaborative structures, such as open science partnerships, make better use of regulation, infrastructure, incentives and procurement policies, and should support strategic intellectual property and management advice to SMEs.

### **Chapter 5: Improving Crisis Policy Responses**

The optimal crisis policy response by our governments and institutions will depend on the specific scenarios in which we find ourselves, and it is all but impossible to plan for every contingency. We can, however, take steps to be better prepared for the next crisis than we were for the current one. We can work to make Canada both more resistant, reducing the likelihood of a crisis, and more resilient and responsive when we do face a crisis. In this chapter, we consider the policy responses during the early stages of the COVID-19 pandemic to provide actionable recommendations for governments and institutions so that they can better prepare Canada for future crises.

At the start of the pandemic, there was variation in the readiness of experts from different fields to identify and communicate the effects of policy options to decision makers. There was also considerable variation in the performance of governments and institutions in how well they appeared to balance trade-offs inherent in their decisions. Governments' performance varied in how they took account of available information, the timeliness of policy implementation and flexibility in amending their policies in response to evidence as it became available. These challenges were further exacerbated by variations in the transparency and communication of decision-making processes. The rapidly evolving nature of our understanding of the COVID-19 pandemic makes the criticism of specific decisions of little value. However, identifying weaknesses in decision-making and planning processes may allow the development and implementation of better policies during the continuing crisis, and in response to future shocks.

#### Policy in the time of crisis

Our discussion of the crisis policy response distinguishes between three broad categories of actors that should be involved in a policymaking process.

In an effective decision-making environment, leaders need to be able to understand the challenges and trade-offs inherent in any policy. For the purposes of government crisis response, leaders are internal to government. They then make timely decisions that balance those trade-offs to choose the policies that are best for society as a whole, as they understand it. Experts need to be prepared to guide leaders through the provision of information and advice about the effects of the crisis and alternative policies on different objectives and population groups. Experts may be internal or external to government. Stakeholders more broadly, including those from at-risk and marginalized populations, need to have a voice in the process, ensuring that experts and leaders are aware of their concerns and experiences. Some experts may also be stakeholders but stakeholders are by definition of their role, external to government. The decision-making process should be responsive to a current crisis, but also forward-thinking, ensuring that institutions are prepared to better respond to future events, regardless of their specific nature.

## Leaders

The decision makers around public policy and institutional strategy in the time of crisis. This includes elected officials, institutional leadership and anyone directly deciding on public recommendations on behalf of government.

## Experts

Technical experts who can help leaders understand the impact of events and policies, including those who understand how viruses spread or the type of policies that are most effective at containing an outbreak, as well as experts in other fields such as education, the economy, mental health, and the environment, and experts about the effects of policies and events have on specific marginalized populations.

# Stakeholders

The different individuals and groups that are affected by the crisis and the policies implemented in response to it. They are able to provide insights into their worries, challenges, and experiences.

During the early months of the COVID-19 crisis, it was clear that the policy-making process was under severe strain. This provides an opportunity to learn. We present some of the concerns that arose in order to motivate our recommendations.<sup>139</sup> <sup>140</sup> <sup>141</sup> <sup>142</sup> <sup>143</sup> <sup>144</sup>

#### Institutional capability & responsiveness

Many public institutions, from schools to elder care facilities to prisons to preventative care and mental health programs, were unprepared to deal with either the disease or the shutdown policies that limited in-person interactions. The quality of service provision in these areas fell sharply and remained low for indefinite periods, causing potentially severe and irreversible harm for those who relied on them. This strongly suggests that there is potential to better prepare institutions to deal with crises. Governments need to invest to increase the capacity of their education, health and other service-providing institutions to ensure that they can continue to provide high-quality services during future crises. This may require investment in infrastructure improvements, such as improved ventilation systems, engaging in more-extensive contingency planning and increasing capacity to provide high-quality services remotely. Furthermore, governments should conduct an

institutional review of the education, care and health systems to identify areas where inadequate oversight, insufficient investment, inappropriate regulation or other factors may have led to a less effective institutional response during a crisis.<sup>†</sup>

Additionally, a crisis requires a coordinated response across all levels of government, with federal, provincial and local governments all working towards the same goals. This seemed not to have occurred to the degree required to maintain control over the virus and the economy,<sup>145</sup> with Canada's national response in a time of crisis complicated by a federal system that affords provinces a relatively high degree of autonomy. There are many benefits to such a system, but there are also limitations when a coordinated national approach is necessary for dealing with a country-wide crisis. At the onset of a crisis, there should not be uncertainty about which level of government or which agency within a government is responsible for different actions or decisions, or about how these decision makers will work together to coordinate their response.<sup>146</sup>

During this crisis, the federal government has declined to declare a Public Welfare Emergency under the federal Emergencies Act.<sup>‡</sup> While the government stated that such a declaration was unnecessary given the cooperation with the provinces, facts on the ground cast doubt on this assertion. Canadians faced a bewilderingly complex set of messages and policies that, at first, scared them and then seemed, prematurely, to suggest the crisis was over; with significant variation in the nature and timing of the implementation and removal of restrictions between provinces.<sup>147</sup> Provinces insisted that the federal government attach no conditions on spending and then used funds received for other purposes.<sup>148</sup> Opposition parties argued against federal incursion in provincial power, even though the federal government was ill-positioned to provide COVID-related support under a fragile and high-partisan Parliament. As Canadians contend with a second wave that is bigger than the first, and a death count in excess of 12,000, it is difficult to conclude that the federal government's strategy, and provinces' insistence on pursuing independent strategies has served all of Canada well.

Three decades of post-crisis reviews have failed to equip Canada with a fit-for-purpose crisis response system. The Supreme Court of Canada has the opportunity to clarify federal power in the case of pan-national or global crises when it rules on Alberta's, Saskatchewan's and Ontario's litigation aimed at limiting federal power in these circumstances.<sup>149</sup> While the Court may avoid providing a general approach for the federal government to national crises, this would be regrettable. By clearly affirming federal power in these circumstances, the Supreme Court would provide the opportunity for the federal government to proactively develop policies in advance of the next crisis and to implement these policies quickly and early to avoid delay. Immediate political consequences, such as the government falling, need to be postponed to allow a cohesive, coherent and clear federal response.

<sup>†</sup> In education, for example, attention should be paid to the relationship between ministries of education and school districts, and other stakeholders, in allowing the system to respond to the crisis while avoiding unnecessary harm to students, and including those within marginalized groups. In the context of LTC, specific focus should be given to solving the LTC workforce crisis which may be necessary for sustained change in this sector. Solving the workforce crisis will improve the quality of care for some of our most vulnerable and improve the effectiveness of the LTC interface with home and community care. This strategy is closely linked to securing stable funding and strong governance in LTC. In addition, the governance of LTC needs closer integration with other sectors, especially public health. For example, in the future LTC needs coordinated prevention measures targeted to LTC facilities at the same time as stay-at-home orders and closure of public places.

<sup>‡</sup> R.S.C., 1985, c. 22.

#### **Expert preparedness**

In the early stages of the crisis, experts were neither prepared nor equipped to provide rigorous estimates around the effects of either COVID-19 or the proposed shutdown policies on the economy, mental health, education outcomes, and the wellbeing of marginalized populations. Most research is inherently retrospective, analysing events and crises that are already underway or that have come to pass.<sup>150</sup> <sup>151</sup> <sup>152</sup> <sup>153</sup> <sup>154</sup> <sup>155</sup> <sup>156</sup> <sup>157</sup> <sup>158</sup> <sup>159</sup> <sup>160</sup> <sup>161</sup> <sup>162</sup> <sup>163</sup> <sup>164</sup> <sup>165</sup> <sup>166</sup> <sup>167</sup> <sup>168</sup> <sup>169</sup> <sup>170</sup> <sup>171</sup> <sup>172</sup> <sup>173</sup> In most fields, there is less emphasis on planning for future contingencies. Furthermore, the cutting-edge research in any field, whether health, economics, education or environmental science, is more likely to be siloed rather than multidisciplinary, and there has been too little research focused on understanding the impact of policies on marginalized groups. Recognizing these concerns, governments and research institutions should promote and fund research that is multi-disciplinary and forward-looking, seeking to identify, understand and avoid or ameliorate future crises. In so doing, they should seek research that considers interactions between a diverse set of outcomes, and the impact of policies and economic activity on at-risk and marginalized population groups (e.g. women, children, Indigenous peoples, racialized groups, poor). It should also bring together experts from different fields and seek to develop models flexible enough to compare alternative policies quickly using data available at the onset of a crisis.

Additionally, the data required to monitor impact, inform expert analysis, and determine the costs of different policies across different groups has not always been collected by governments or other institutions. One important concern is that Statistics Canada, at the outset of the crisis, collected relatively little demographic data. This prevented researchers from assessing the economic or health impact of COVID-19, for example, on different racialized or marginalized population groups. It is important to recognise the important steps Statistics Canada has taken to address the gaps in their data capture to meet decision makers' needs. Moving forward these developments must be generalised throughout Statistics Canada's operations and become standard practice for both cross-sectional and longitudinal data collection activities. Without this type of information experts are not able to fully quantify the costs and distributional effects of alternative policies. In addition to the scope of data collection, the rapidly changing nature of the COVID-19 pandemic has shown the importance of the frequency of data capture to support policy development and evaluation. The government should fund and facilitate better and more frequent data collection, including health, economic, education, and environmental indicators, ensuring that these data includes demographic and socioeconomic indicators. It should also facilitate the reporting and sharing of data across organizations and reduce costs of accessing these data by researchers to facilitate prompt input from experts when a crisis hits. Governments may wish to establish mechanisms to increase the frequency of data collection during crises when situations are rapidly evolving.

#### Responsive and inclusive policymaking

At the outset of the pandemic, elected leaders spoke of deferring to the public health recommendations in determining policies, including decisions around the reopening of schools and the relaxation of shutdown restrictions. At that time, however, it was not clear that public health recommendations looked beyond minimizing the spread of and mortality from the disease. It appeared that leaders responsible for balancing the various trade-offs in policy decisions across multiple dimensions of wellbeing had effectively delegated the decision making to experts who were focused on only one dimension of wellbeing. Such delegation may have been completely
justified at the onset of the crisis in March, given the degree of risk and uncertainty around COVID-19 and the credible threat that, left unchecked, it could result in severe and irreversible harm for large portions of the population. However, by mid-April it was clear that there were significant harms from the lockdown policies, especially to at risk populations and marginalized groups including women and children. Once this became clear, an effective policymaking process needed to engage with the relevant experts to understand these broader effects and develop a portfolio of strategies that could maintain control of the infection whilst ameliorating these harms.<sup>§</sup> Whilst there are concerns that decision makers have been setting aside the evidence and recommendations they have received from experts,<sup>174</sup> the need for them to be provided with a full account of the costs and benefits associated with their choices remains.

To the extent that policy is made by our institutions (e.g., governments, public health authorities, central banks, military) in times of crisis, it must be perceived by both the public and experts in other fields that the decision makers are accounting for the potential impact of their policies across many dimensions and a broad set of wellbeing measures. This is one area where economic institutions perform relatively well, as the field of economics has grown to encompass experts in health, education, environment and inequality, many of whom produce research on the potential impact of economic policy on these other fields, the dynamic (including short- and long-run effects of policy), and unintended consequences. However, more interdisciplinary research is needed, and there are legitimate concerns that economic policy decisions fail to balance the entire range of potential costs and benefits, instead focusing on short-run economic gains.

There are several steps that governments and institutions can take to improve policymaking along these dimensions. First, leaders must ensure that policy decisions account for both the benefits and costs of their policies across multiple dimensions and are not focused on one outcome. If policy leaders defer to a single group of experts (e.g., public health) to make decisions then they must ensure that the officials are accounting for the broader consequences of their decisions on society and the economy. Governments should consider establishing a standing crisis-response teams made up of experts in public health, the economy, education, environment, poverty, law and history among other fields. Such teams could prioritize the most pressing objectives (e.g., minimizing disease spread and mortality in the case of COVID-19), while ensuring that other objectives (e.g., avoiding severe and irreversible harm to the wellbeing of poor children, avoiding a long-run recession) are accounted for.<sup>175</sup> <sup>¶</sup> Ensuring that such a group is visible to the public will provide assurances to them (and experts) that decision makers are accounting for the full range of concerns. Consistent with this, public officials making decisions during crises should explicitly address issues around the broader social impacts of a crisis and the policy responses, and how

<sup>§</sup> For example, in late April, Dr. Theresa Tam, Canada's chief public health officer, explained why the federal government could not support the relaxation of lockdown restrictions on the grounds that even a well-designed reopening couldn't protect everyone: "Even a young person might get severely sick or get into the ICU, so it's not a concept that should be supported." Dr. Tam's comments suggest that the federal policies were prioritizing any policy that could lower the spread of the disease regardless of the costs of the policies on other dimensions. To the extent that these comments reflect the realities of the behind-closed-doors decision making process, they reflect a one-dimensional approach to policymaking that stands in sharp contrast to our view that optimal policy must balance trade-offs across multiple dimensions.

<sup>¶</sup> Gunderson (2020) refers to such groups as "first-responder policy teams." We recognize that in many situations, policymakers did consult a wide range of expert opinions in determining policy decisions under COVID-19, whilst needing to act under extreme time pressures. Yet, it is not clear, even with the benefit of hindsight, the extent to which individual decisions regarding shutdown and reopening strategies were driven by anything other than a desire to reduce the spread of the disease at the early stages of the crisis.

these interact with the social determinants of health, in addition to the technical solutions to a crisis (eg. vaccination, quarantines, modeling).\*\*

Second, as well as including experts from a range of disciplines in policy development processes, it is essential that the policymaking process give voice to a wide array of perspectives from the public, especially those from marginalized groups. Daniel and Sabin's *Accountability for Reasonableness* addresses the problem that no policy decision will satisfy all people affected by it. They propose that a just process is the appropriate objective; and identify processes that consider the views and values of all affected by the decision (relevance) as a key condition for a just decision-making process. This requires systems that actively encourage and incorporate feedback from the Canadian public, including marginalized groups, on their concerns around proposed and implemented policies, and alternative options. There is substantial evidence that the public can make coherent and sophisticated recommendations concerning values and tradeoffs in health and social policy, and provide substantive knowledge to decision-makers. Public engagement enhances accountability, especially in government policymaking, and improves the legitimacy of decisions taken.<sup>176 177 178 179</sup>

Third, leaders should consider established frameworks such as the 'precautionary principle' to guide policymaking in times of crisis. The precautionary principle argues that policymakers should take action to address credible threats of severe or irreversible harm, even if there remains scientific uncertainty about the likelihood or magnitude of this harm. <sup>180</sup> This can justify quick, decisive action to implement protective policies such as the lockdowns implemented across Canada during the first wave of the pandemic. However, the precautionary principle recognizes the need to consider all harms and costs, be they social, economic or ethical.<sup>181</sup> It is important that precautionary government actions are cost-effective, in that there are no alternative policies that can similarly manage risk at lower costs, and that the actions themselves do not cause greater serious or irreversible harm on other dimensions.

Fourth, leaders need to recognize that a policy to prevent severe or irreversible harm on one dimension or among one population group could cause severe or irreversible harm on another group. Policy responses should not simply shift the severe and irreversible impact of the crisis from one group to another. When a crisis-response policy is undertaken that may cause severe and irreversible damage to another group, that policy must be coordinated with other efforts to minimize the long-run harm it causes. For example, the COVID-19 lockdown policies reduced health costs of the outbreak on vulnerable populations such as the elderly and those with chronic pre-existing conditions, but imposed economic and health costs on some groups of workers and business owners, mothers, fathers and school children. When governments closed schools to control the spread of the virus, harm to children's educational prospects was foreseeable. As the disruption of children's schooling has continued, this harm and its unequal distribution, has become increasingly manifest.<sup>182</sup> Governments should have provided the resources and support for schools and families to engage in *quality* online learning to minimize the harm of the policy to the children's education and the parents' economic participation.<sup>183</sup> Similarly, small and local retailers would have benefited from subsidized or otherwise reduced shipping to compete with larger organizations in online sales.

<sup>\*\*</sup> The public-health response to COVID-19 has been largely focused upon tertiary solutions: scientific and technical responses rooted in biological models. However, pandemics and other crises should be viewed through a much broader lens, to incorporate social analysis of disease and health, and an understanding of the broader aspects of preventive care, societal wellbeing, mental health and the connections between economy and health.

The application of intersectionality theory during the policy development and implementation can help leaders identify and address the distribution of the burden from both the crisis and policy response across different population groups.<sup>184</sup> <sup>185</sup> <sup>186</sup> <sup>187</sup>An intersectional approach to policy analysis will develop a more accurate and comprehensive picture of problems and the potential benefits and costs of solutions. For example, an intersectional approach would help decision makers understand the differential burden of closing schools on women with children under the age of 11, women from racialized groups with children under the age of 11, and women from racialized groups with children under the age of 11 living in high density housing. It will also bring to light less obvious and oft-obscured effects of policy decisions, which frequently correspond with 'gaps' or 'cracks' in the system. In summary, it will better expose the impact of policy alternatives on specific groups, highlighting those who stand to gain or lose the most under different scenarios. These understandings are integral to an informed consideration of competing policy options.<sup>††</sup>

Fifth, the policy response should be flexible and able to quickly adjust to changing information, and to not insist on a one-size-fits-all approach for all locations. Greater flexibility may have reduced the likelihood of experiencing severe or irreversible harm on some during the pandemic by allowing communities with low case counts to consider reopening in-person schooling or some low-contact non-essential businesses, for example.<sup>188</sup>

In summary, building on the previous recommendations, the decision-making process within crisis response teams or policymaking framework should be structured to systematically consider the costs and benefits of policies on multiple dimensions and across different population groups, to clearly define their policy objectives, and to adjust course as the situation evolves and more information becomes available. We also need to provide support for those who face disproportionate costs whether from the crisis itself or the policy response to it.

# Trust & credibility

During the COVID-19 response, it was not always clear what information led to the adopted public policies. Uncertainty around this information, and how policy evolved as new information emerged, was opaque. Initially, politicians and public health officials appeared reluctant to acknowledge the uncertainty and trade-offs inherent to their decisions. Unfortunately, failure to acknowledge uncertainty and trade-offs can undermine the credibility of the policymaking process, especially when changes in evidence lead to different recommendations. For example, some public messaging around mask use internationally conflated a lack of evidence around the effectiveness of masks as evidence of ineffectiveness. This undermined public trust in expert recommendations even as the evidence for the effectiveness of masks in reducing the viral spread emerged. A lack of transparency in the process of policymaking may lead individuals and groups to question whether the policymakers are aware of and/or considering their interests or concerns, which undermines support for policy implementation.

The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic is a case study in how intersectional analysis can be applied to better understand the implications of society-wide issues, how economic and social effects are compounded at the intersections of identity, and what policy tools are necessary to address disparate impacts. For example, it is widely reported that women—and particularly racialized women—have borne a disproportionate impact under COVID-19, whether as a result of over-representation in front-line and service positions, primary responsibility for care work, or higher likelihood of experiencing domestic violence. Had lockdown measures that were implemented to limit the spread of the virus considered these implications, the need for companion measures such as job protected paid leave, access to emergency childcare, and increased domestic violence support, would have been obvious.

It is essential that policymakers and public institutions maintain credibility and the trust of the citizens. Establishing a public-facing crisis response team with a diverse range of expertise, incorporating deliberative public engagement into policy development; and using an intersectionality lens to identify disproportionate effects across groups, will contribute to maintaining credibility. However, these will not be sufficient. Transparency and clear communication regarding the decision-making process, as well as the uncertainty, risks and trade-offs inherent in any decision, are important for minimizing the threat of misinformation. Systems should be developed to increase transparency in the decision-making process at all levels of government. Such transparency is important for maintaining credibility and public support, particularly given the diversity of opinions available online and the prominence of misinformation. It will reassure groups within the population that their concerns are being heard. Explaining how policy is likely to evolve over time will also allow families, businesses and organizations to better plan during times of crisis.

# Chapter 6: Priority Recommendations\*\*

The COVID-19 pandemic has challenged Canada like no crisis since the Second World War. It has done great harm to individuals, families, the economy and society at large. It has shown the fault lines in our social contract, the fragility of our economy and the inadequacy of our crisis response capacity. However, it has also shown the best of Canada. The frontline workers who have stepped up to care for the vulnerable and keep essential supplies flowing. The businesses of all shapes and sizes that changed what they do and how they do it so that we got the goods and services that we needed, when we needed them. The public health leaders who have spun gold from the straw of decades of underinvestment to help us protect ourselves and our loved ones and researchers who dedicated their teams to providing those leaders with the evidence they needed. Against the background of sacrifice and loss, it is essential that we take the opportunity to build a better Canada that is more resistant, resilient and responds more effectively to future crises. One that is committed to the revised social contract that we are equal and have equal opportunities to fulfil our potential in a sustainable and truly innovative economy; and where we have a well-resourced and comprehensive national crisis response capacity.

With this ambition as our focus, we make the following recommendations to the federal and provincial governments.

#### Renewing the Social Contract

- 1. Establish a basic income guarantee (BIG) that is universally available to provide adequate income support to all persons and be responsive to economic shocks.
- 2. Reform provincial and federal labour codes to ensure paid sick leave, as this is an essential public-health policy to support a more resilient economy.
- 3. Work with provinces and territories to establish universal access to childcare that provides Early Childhood Education, to protect parents and especially mothers' opportunities for labour force participation.
- 4. Implement a comprehensive tax reform that enhances the fairness of taxes by broadening the tax base to treat all capital income on a par with earnings, and address intergenerational transmission of wealth inequality by re-instituting an inheritance tax.

#### **Reinvigorating the Economy**

- 1. Develop clean competitiveness roadmaps for each sector that target opportunities for Canada to succeed in a low-carbon global economy, and the policies, investments and actions to capture those opportunities. As a critical first step, develop long-term, low carbon infrastructure plans to support a decarbonized economy (energy, transport, buildings) and invest in building the foundational infrastructure identified in it.
- 2. Invest in a comprehensive and secure digital infrastructure to support the development of a strong domestic digital economy and enable equality of opportunity for all Canadians as consumers, innovators, employers and employees.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>‡‡</sup> These recommendations are the consensus of the working group. This should not be interpreted as a meaning that all individuals personally endorse all the recommendations.

- 3. Invest in effective and efficient labour-force transition from carbon intensive industries through wage insurance and bridge-to-retirement mechanisms, supported by comprehensive high-quality retraining programmes.
- 4. Undertake a risk assessment of Canada's exposure to global supply chains to identify essential commodities which might merit the repatriation of manufacturing capacity.

### **Enabling Innovation**

- 1. Develop and disseminate a clear vision for the objectives of innovation policy and specify general flexible metrics for assessing success.
- 2. Create flexible, arms-length institutions with stable, long-term funding to provide resources and programs to firms to spur innovation by sector and/or region.
- 3. Identify clear specific missions for innovation policy, such as decarbonizing the economy and accelerating the shift to and growth of the digital economy. These serve to align incentives and resources and provide a clear signal of the opportunities available to the private sector.
- 4. For truly global endeavours, such as the life sciences, government must support engagement in global research networks. Investments in building Canadian capacity must focus on leveraging Canadian research through sharing relationships, such as open science partnerships.

# Improving Crisis Policy Responses

- 1. Establishing Standing Crisis Response Teams, made up of a broad range of experts with the necessary intellectual and physical infrastructure and secretariat services. Consideration should be given to enshrining the resourcing of these teams in law, to ensure that we make the necessary investments in public health to deal with future crises.
- 2. Develop systems for citizen engagement with a policymaking process that actively encourages and incorporates feedback from the Canadian public. This system must reach marginalized groups to understand their priorities and concerns relating to alternative options.
- 3. Fund and facilitate better data collection, including health, economic, education and environmental indicators, ensuring that these data includes demographic and socioeconomic indicators and is readily available to experts based within and outside of the public service. It will be important to establish mechanisms to increase the frequency of data collection during crises.
- 4. Develop and disseminate an intersectional approach to policy development and analysis to provide decision makers with a more accurate and comprehensive picture of problems, the potential benefits and costs of solutions and how these are distributed across society, especially marginalized groups.

# References

**1** Kantis, C. Kiernan, S. Bardi, JS. Updated timeline of the coronavirus. Think Global Health. 9 October 2020. https://www. thinkglobalhealth.org/article/updated-timeline-coronavirus

2 New York Times. Canada COVID Map and case count. https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2020/world/canada/canada-coronavirus-cases.html accessed 2 November 2020

**3** Government of Canada. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): Epidemiology Update. https://health-infobase.canada.ca/ covid-19/epidemiological-summary-covid-19-cases.html Accessed 2 November 2020 and https://www.canada.ca/en/publichealth/services/diseases/2019-novel-coronavirus-infection.html

**4** Government of Canada. Canada's COVID-19 Economic Response Plan. 2020-11-03 https://www.canada.ca/en/department-finance/economic-response-plan.html

**5** National Advisory Committee on SARS and Public Health. Learning from SARS: Renewal of Public Health in Canada. October 2003. https://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/publicat/sars-sras/pdf/sars-e.pdf

**6** Public Health Agency of Canada. Lessons Learned Review: Public Health Agency of Canada and Health Canada response to the 2009 H1N1 pandemic. November 2010. https://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/about\_apropos/evaluation/reports-rapports/2010-2011/h1n1/pdf/h1n1-eng.pdf

7 Government of Canada. Federal/Provincial/Territorial public health response plan for biological events. October 31 2017.

https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/emergency-preparedness/public-health-response-plan-biological-events.html **8** Pan-Canadian Public Health Network. Special advisory committee on COVID-19. 20 May 2020. http://www.phn-rsp.ca/saccovid-ccs/index-eng.php

**9** Government of Canada. Zika virus: for health professionals. 24 December 2019. https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/diseases/zika-virus/health-professionals.html, https://ipac-canada.org/pandemic-h1n1-resources.php, https://ipac-canada.org/sars.php https://ipac-canada.org/ebola-virus-resources.php

**10** Kantis, C. Kiernan, S. Bardi, JS. Updated timeline of the coronavirus. Think Global Health. 9 October 2020. https://www. thinkglobalhealth.org/article/updated-timeline-coronavirus

**11** Public Health Ontario. COVID-19 – What We Know So Far About... Social Determinants of Health. 24 May 2020. https://www.publichealthontario.ca/-/media/documents/ncov/covid-wwksf/2020/05/what-we-know-social-determinants-health.pdf?la=en

https://www.ices.on.ca/Publications/Atlases-and-Reports/2020/COVID-19-in-Immigrants-Refugees-and-Other-Newcomers-in-Ontario.

**12** RBC Economics. Pandemic threatens decades of womens labour force gains. 16 July 2020. https://thoughtleadership.rbc. com/pandemic-threatens-decades-of-womens-labour-force-gains/

**13** Government of Canada. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): Outbreak Update. https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/diseases/2019-novel-coronavirus-infection.html Accessed 2 November2020

**14** Public Health Ontario. COVID-19 in Ontario: A focus on material deprivation. 3 June 2020. https://www.publichealthontario. ca/-/media/documents/ncov/epi/2020/06/covid-19-epi-material-deprivation.pdf?la=en

**15** Guttmann A, Gandhi S, Wanigaratne S, et al. COVID-19 I immigrants and other newcomers in Ontario: characteristics of those tested and those confirmed positive as of 3 June 2020. September 2020. https://www.ices.on.ca/Publications/Atlases-and-Reports/2020/COVID-19-in-Immigrants-Refugees-and-Other-Newcomers-in-Ontario

**16** Public Health Ontario. COVID-19 in Ontario: A focus on diversity. 14 May 2020. https://www.publichealthontario.ca/-/ media/documents/ncov/epi/2020/06/covid-19-epi-diversity.pdf?la=en

**17** CRTC Communications monitoring report 2019. https://crtc.gc.ca/eng/publications/reports/policymonitoring/2019/cmr9. htm#a3

18 Library of Parliament. Hill Notes: Impact of COVID-19 on employment by sector. 25 June 2020. https://hillnotes.

ca/2020/06/25/impacts-of-covid-19-on-employment-in-canada-by-sector/

**19** Government of Canada. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): Epidemiology Update. https://health-infobase.canada.ca/ covid-19/epidemiological-summary-covid-19-cases.html Accessed 2 November2020

**20** Public Health Ontario. COVID-19 in Ontario: A focus on diversity. 14 May 2020. https://www.publichealthontario.ca/-/ media/documents/ncov/epi/2020/06/covid-19-epi-diversity.pdf?la=en

**21** Chung H, Fung K, Ferreira-Legere LE, et al. COVID-19 Laboratory testing in Ontario:Patterns of testing and characteristics of individuals tested as of April 30 2020. IC/ES May 2020. https://www.ices.on.ca/Publications/Atlases-and-Reports/2020/COVID-19-Laboratory-Testing-in-Ontario

22 See https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/191114/dq191114a-eng.htm

23 Cotton, C., B. Crowley, B. Kashi, H. Lloyd-Ellis, and F. Tremblay (Aug 2020). "Quantifying the Economic Impacts of COVID-19 Policy Responses on Canada's Provinces in (Almost) Real Time." Queen's University WP.

**24** RBC Economics. Pandemic threatens decades of womens labour force gains. 16 July 2020. https://thoughtleadership.rbc. com/pandemic-threatens-decades-of-womens-labour-force-gains/ and https://lmic-cimt.ca/job-loss-impacts-of-covid-19-by-education-gender-and-age/

**25** Lim, J. Survey of labour force shows racialized unemployment gap due to COVID-19. iPolitics. 7 August 2020. https://ipolitics.ca/2020/08/07/july-labour-force-survey-shows-racialized-gap-in-unemployment-due-to-covid-19/

**26** Balakrishnan, A. Some employees cite CERB as a reason to refuse to return to work. Canadian Press. 16 July 2020. Canadian Press. 16 July 2020. https://www.cp24.com/news/some-employees-cite-cerb-as-reason-to-refuse-return-to-work-cfib-survey-says-1.5027100. However, Schirle and Skuterud, using Labour Force Survey data, find no evidence that CERB is discouraging jobless workers from searching for and beginning new jobs. T. Schirle and M. Skuterud (2020), Job Search, New Jobs, and What is Means for Future Policy, Intelligence Memo, C.D. Howe Institute, August 12, 2020.

27 Food Banks Canada. COVID-19: Impact on Food Banks and how you can help. https://www.foodbankscanada.ca/COVID-19. aspx

**28** Food Banks Canada. COVID-19:Your questions answered on how food banks across Canada are responding. https://www.foodbankscanada.ca/COVID-19-faq

**29** Tweddle, A, Stapleton, J. Canada Emergency Response Benefit (CERB) interactions with provincial and territorial social assistance and subsidized housing programs and youth aging out of care. Maytree Foundation. Aug. 20, 2020. https://maytree. com/wp-content/uploads/Policy-Backgrounder-CERB-interactions24Aug2020.pdf

**30** UFCW Canada. Industry snapshot: COVID-19 and rising food prices in Canada. 9 July 2020. http://www.ufcw.ca/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=32708:industry-snapshot-covid-19-and-rising-food-prices-in-canada&catid=10181& Itemid=6&lang=en

**31** Government of Canada. Labour Force Survey July 2020. Statistics Canada. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/200807/dq200807a-eng.htm

**32** Canadian Womens Foundation. The Facts: Women and Pandemics. https://canadianwomen.org/the-facts/women-and-pandemics/

**33** Public Health Agency of Canada. Reduce the spread of COVID-19:Wash your hands. Accessed 4 November 2020 https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/phac-aspc/documents/services/diseases-maladies/reduce-spread-covid-19-wash-your-hands/eng-handwashing.pdf

**34** Government of Canada. Number of long-term drinking water advisories affecting First Nations water systems. Environment Canada. 03 December 2018. https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/environmental-indicators/ drinking-water-advisories-first-nations.html

**35** Day, B. H. (2020). The Value of Greenspace Under Pandemic Lockdown. Environmental and Resource Economics, 76(4), 1161-1185. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10640-020-00489-y.

**36** South, E. C., Kondo, M. C., & Razani, N. (2020). Nature as a Community Health Tool: The Case for Healthcare Providers and Systems. American Journal of Preventive Medicine. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2020.03.025

**37** OECD (2017), OECD Environmental Performance Reviews: Canada 2017 (Paris: OECD Publishing). http://dx.doi. org/10.1787/9789264279612-en.

**38** Stieb, DM., Evans, GJ., To, TM. Et al. An ecological analysis of long-term exposure to PM2.5 and incidence of COVID-19 in Canadian health regions. Environmental Research. 191 December 2020 online. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S001393512030949X

**39** Forget, EL. (2020), Basic Income for Canadians: From the COVID-19 Emergency to Financial Security for All (Halifax: Lorimer).

**40** Stevens, H., Simpson, W. (2017), "Toward a National Universal Basic Income," Canadian Public Policy/Analyse de politiques 43(2), 120-39.

**41** Boadway, R., Cuff, K. Koebel, K. (2018a), "Designing a Basic Income Guarantee for Canada," in Elizabeth Goodyear-Grant, Richard Johnston, Will Kymlicka, and John Myles (eds.), Federalism and the Welfare State in a Multicultural World (Kingston: Queen's School of Policy Studies and McGill-Queen's University Press), 101-29.

**42** Boadway, R., Cuff, K. Koebel, K. (2018b) Implementing a Basic Income Guarantee in Canada: Prospects and Problems,' Collaborative Applied Research in Economics initiative, Department of Economics, Memorial University, St. John's. https://www. mun.ca/econ/more/events/boadway-care-memorial.pdf

**43** Pasma, C., Regehr, S. (2019), "Basic Income: Some Policy Options for Canada," Report prepared for Basic Income Canada Network.

**44** Amma, N. Malanik-Busby, C. Ahmed, SM. Costing a Guaranteed Basic Income during the COVID pandemic. Office of the Parliamentary Budget Officer July 2020. https://www.pbo-dpb.gc.ca/en/blog/news/RP-2021-014-M--costing-guaranteed-basic-income-during-covid-pandemic--estimation-couts-lies-un-revenu-base-garanti-pendant-pandemie-covid-19 (accessed 3rd December 2020).

**45** Forget, Evelyn L. (2011) The town with no poverty: The health effects of a Canadian guaranteed annual income field experiment. Canadian Public Policy, 37(3), pp.283-305.

**46** Ferdosi, Mohammad, Tom McDowell, Wayne Lewchuk, Stephanie Ross (2020) Ontario's Basic Income Experience (Hamilton: Hamilton Community Foundation, Hamilton Roundtable for Poverty Reduction and Labour Studies at McMaster University). https://labourstudies.mcmaster.ca/documents/southern-ontarios-basic-income-experience.pdf.

**47** Baird, S., McIntosh, C. and Özler, B., 2011. Cash or condition? Evidence from a cash transfer experiment. The Quarterly journal of economics, 126(4), pp.1709-1753.

**48** Forget, Evelyn L. (2011) The town with no poverty: The health effects of a Canadian guaranteed annual income field experiment. Canadian Public Policy, 37(3), pp.283-305.

**49** Forget, Evelyn L., (2013) New questions, new data, old interventions: the health effects of a guaranteed annual income. Preventive medicine, 57(6), pp.925-928.

**50** Baird, S., McIntosh, C. and Özler, B., 2011. Cash or condition? Evidence from a cash transfer experiment. The Quarterly journal of economics, 126(4), pp.1709-1753.

51 Haigh, L., Rohregger, B. (2019) Universal Basic Income Policies and their potential for addressing health inequities.

Transformative approaches to a healthy, prosperous life for all. Copenhagen: WHO regional office.

52 Hasdell, R. (2020). What we know about Universal Basic Income: A cross synthesis of reviews. Stanford, CA: Basic Income Lab.

**53** Segal, H. Forget, E. Banting, K. A federal basic income within the post-COVID Economic Recovery plan. Royal Society of Canada 2020. https://rsc-src.ca/sites/default/files/FBI%20PB\_EN.pdf

54 Calnitsky, D. and P. Gonalons-Pons (2020) The Impact of an Experimental Guaranteed Income on Crime and Violence. Social Problems.

**55** The extent of non-filing and a discussion of policies to deal with it have recently been studied in Robson, Jennifer and Saul Schwartz (2020), "Who Doesn't File a Tax Return? A Portrait of Non-Filers," Canadian Public Policy 46, 323-39.

**56** Boadway, R., Cuff, K., Koebel, K. (2018a), "Designing a Basic Income Guarantee for Canada," in Elizabeth Goodyear-Grant, Richard Johnston, Will Kymlicka, and John Myles (eds.), Federalism and the Welfare State in a Multicultural World (Kingston: Queen's School of Policy Studies and McGill-Queen's University Press), 101-29.

**57** Kangas,O, Jauhianen, S, Simanainen, M and Ylikännö, M., 2020. Suomen perustulokokeilun arviointi. Helsinki: Sosiaali- ja terveysministeriö. http://julkaisut.valtioneuvosto.fi/bitstream/handle/10024/162219/STM\_2020\_15\_rap. pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

**58** Verlaat, T., de Kruijk, M., Rosenkranz, S., Groot, L., & Sanders, M. Onderzoek Weten wat werkt: samen werken aan een betere bijstand, Eindrapport. (Utrecht: Utrecht University. 2020). https://www.uu.nl/en/publication/final-report-what-works-weten-wat-werkt

**59** Koebel, Kourtney and Tammy Schirle (2016) The Differential Impact of Universal Child Benefits on the Labour Supply of Married and Single Mothers, Canadian Public Policy 42, 49-64.

**60** United Nations. United Nations Declarations on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples. September 2007. https://www.un.org/ development/desa/indigenouspeoples/declaration-on-the-rights-of-indigenous-peoples.html

**61** Boadway, Robin W. (2019), "Rationalizing the Canadian Income Tax System," Canadian Tax Journal 67(3), 643-66 and Boadway and Tremblay (2016), "Modernizing Business Taxation," with Jean-Francois Tremblay, Commentary No. 452 (Toronto: C.D. Howe Institute). The Accounting for Corporate Equity tax system, which allows a deduction for the cost of equity as well as interest and depreciation, is equivalent to a cash-flow tax system.

**62** Johal, S., Hartmann, E. (2019), "Facilitating the Future of Work through a Modernized El System," Public Policy Forum, Ottawa. https://ppforum.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/PPF-Modernizing-El-for-Future-of-Work-April-2019-EN.pdf.

**63** Deng, Z. Morrisette, R. Messacar, D.,. Running the economy remotely: potential for working from home during and after

COVID-19. Statistics Canada, May 28 2020, https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/45-28-0001/2020001/article/00026-eng.htm **64** Fox, A. Study: COVID-19 associated with widening unemployment gap bewteen Canadian Mothers and Fathers. ChildCare Canada. Accessed 4 November 2020 https://childcarecanada.org/documents/child-care-news/20/08/study-covid-19-associated-widening-unemployment-gap-between-canadian

**65** Alexander, C. Beckman, K., MacDonald, A. et al. Ready for Life: A socio-economic analysis of Early Childhood Education and care. The Conference Board of Canada 2017. https://www.conferenceboard.ca/(X(1)S(hw4lf3vnsfowmbkwp2epxgvs))/e-library/abstract.aspx?did=9231&AspxAutoDetectCookieSupport=1.

**66** See, for example: https://www.lawsonlundell.com/labour-and-employment-law-blog/new-employment-standards-leaves-for-covid-19.

**67** Statistics Canada. Caregivers in Canada, 2018. 8 January 2020. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/200108/dq200108a-eng.htm Accessed 4 November 2020.

**68** Estabrooks CA, Straus S, Flood, CM, Keefe J, Armstrong P, Donner G, Boscart V, Ducharme F, Silvius J, Wolfson M. *Restoring trust: COVID-19 and the future of long-term care.* Royal Society of Canada. 2020 https://rsc-src.ca/sites/default/files/LTC%20 PB%20%2B%20ES\_EN\_0.pdf

**69** Kurl, S. Korzinski, D. Worry Gratitude and Boredome: As COVID-19 affects mental financial heatlh, who fares better, who fares worse? Angus Reid Institute. 27 April 2020. http://angusreid.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/2020.04.27\_COVID-mental-health.pdf

**70** Alvarez, Jorge, Ivo Krznar, and Trevor Tombe (2019), "Internal Trade in Canada: The Case for Liberalization,? IMF Working Paper 19/158, International Monetary Fund, Washington. https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/WP/Issues/2019/07/22/Internal-Trade-in-CanadaCase-for-Liberalization-47100

71 New Climate Economy 2018. https://newclimateeconomy.report/2018/

72 Government of Canada. 10 Key Facts on Canada's natural resources 2019. https://www.nrcan.gc.ca/science-data/data-analysis/10-key-facts-canadas-natural-resources/16013

**73** IEA (2020), World Energy Outlook 2020, IEA, Paris https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-outlook-2020 **74** Ibid.

**75** Sawyer, D. Canada is on track to achieve a national GHG target. No, really. Smart Prosperity Institute. 13 February 2020. https://institute.smartprosperity.ca/content/canada-track-achieve-national-ghg-target-no-really

76 Canadian Vehicle Manufacturers' Association "Industry Facts" Accessed: Aug 2020. www.cvma.ca/industry/facts/

77 Bloomberg New Energy Finance (2020) "Electric Vehicle Outlook 2020" Accessed Aug 2020. about.bnef.com/electric-vehicle-outlook/

**78** Ambrose, J. UK plans to bring forward ban on fossil fuel vehicles to 2030. The Guardian 21 September 2020. https://www. theguardian.com/environment/2020/sep/21/uk-plans-to-bring-forward-ban-on-fossil-fuel-vehicles-to-2030 Accessed 7 December 2020

**79** ELYSIS. 2019. ELYSIS Research and Development Center in Saguenay – Construction work official launched. Available online at: https://www.newswire.ca/news-releases/elysis-research-and-development-center-in-saguenay-construction-work-officially-launched-821398576.html .

**80** Forest Products Association of Canada (2016) '30 by 30' Climate change challenge. https://www.fpac.ca/wp-content/uploads/FPAC\_CCC\_Small\_ENGLISH-1.pdf?pdf=30by30ReportEnglish

**81** Elgie, S. Brownlee, M. Accelrating Clean Innovation in Canada. Policy Brief April 2017. Smart Prosperity Brief. https://institute.smartprosperity.ca/sites/default/files/acceleratingcleaninnovationincanada.pdf

**82** Smart Prosperity Institute. The resilient recovery framework: Version 3. June 2020. https://institute.smartprosperity.ca/sites/ default/files/resilient-recovery-framework-v2.pdf Accessed 5 November 2020

**83** Beugin, D. Frank, B., Hodgson, G. Lipsey, R. Olewiler, N. Ragan, C. Clearing the air: how carbon pricing helps Canada fight climate change. EcoFiscal. https://ecofiscal.ca/carbon-pricing-works/ (Accessed 7<sup>th</sup> December 2020)

**84** Johnstone, N., Hascic, I., and Kalamova, M. (2010) Environmental Policy Characteristics and Technological Innovation, *Economia Politica, XXVII, n. 2, OECD.* 

**85** Armstrong, H., Gorst, C. & Rae, J. (2019) Renewing Regulation: 'anticipatory regulation' in an age of disruption. Nesta https://www.nesta.org.uk/report/renewing-regulation-anticipatory-regulation-in-an-age-of-disruption/

**86** Moffat, M., McNally, J. Making a green recovery inclusive for all Canadians. Smart Prosperity Institute. September 11, 2020. https://institute.smartprosperity.ca/InclusiveGreenRecovery

**87** OECD Policy Responses to Coronavirus (COVID-19), Making the Green Recovery Work for Jobs, Income and Growth. OECD 2020. https://www.oecd.org/coronavirus/policy-responses/making-the-green-recovery-work-for-jobs-income-and-growtha505f3e7/

**88** Government of Canada. Pan-Canadian Framework on clean growth and climate change. 2016. https://www.canada.ca/en/ services/environment/weather/climatechange/pan-canadian-framework/climate-change-plan.html accessed 5 November 2020

89 Government of Canada. Universal Broadband Fund. https://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/139.nsf/eng/h\_00006.html Accessed 7th December 2020

**90** Government of Canada. Interim orders respecting drugs, medical devices and foods for special dietary purposes in relation to COVID-19. 30 March 2020 Health Canada. https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/drugs-health-products/ compliance-enforcement/covid19-interim-order-drugs-medical-devices-special-foods.html

**91** Lusk, J. et al Economic impacts of COVID-19 on food and agricultural markets. CAST Commentary. 2020 https://www.cast-science.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/QTA2020-3-COVID-Impacts.pdf accessed 5 November 2020

**92** Hobbs, JE. Food supply chins during the COVID-19 pandemic. Cand J Agr Econ. 2020;68:171–176 https://onlinelibrary. wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/cjag.12237

**93** World Trade Organisation. Wto report finds growing number of restrictions in response to COVID-19 crisis. Economic Research and Analysis. 23 April 2020. https://www.wto.org/english/news\_e/news20\_e/rese\_23apr20\_e.htm

**94** HSBC News. Post-COVID climate will be greener for Canadian Business: HSBC Survey. 21 July 2020. https://www.about. hsbc.ca/news-and-media/post-covid-climate-will-be-greener-for-canadian-business. Accessed 5 November 2020.

**95** Prime Minsiters Office. Prime Minister announces Canadas plan to mobilize industry to fight COVID-19. 20 March 2020. https://pm.gc.ca/en/news/news-releases/2020/03/20/prime-minister-announces-canadas-plan-mobilize-industry-fight-covid **96** Mellon, L. Resiliency during COVID-19: How one Canadian supply chain is adapting to service its customers. University

of Toronto Engineering News. 26 August 2020. https://news.engineering.utoronto.ca/resiliency-during-covid-19-how-onecanadian-supply-chain-is-adapting-to-serve-its-customers/

**97** Zweiful, J. Blog:The outlook for pharma on-shoring in the wake of COVID-19. 6 May 2020 https://www.pharmamanufacturing.com/articles/2020/blog-the-outlook-for-pharma-onshoring/

https://www.pharmamanufacturing.com/articles/2020/blog-the-outlook-for-pharma-onshoring/

98 Trialsitenews. World Health Organization Solidarity Trial: Remdesivir and Others of Real Therapeutic Benefit. October 17 2020 https://www.trialsitenews.com/world-health-organization-solidarity-trial-remdesivir-others-of-no-real-therapeutic-benefit/
99 de Beer, J. Gold, ER. "International Trade, Intellectual Property, and Innovation Policy: Lessons from a Pandemic"

in Vulnerable: The Law, Policy and Ethics of COVID-19, Colleen M. Flood, Vanessa MacDonnell, Jane Philpott, Sophie Thériault, and Sridhar Venkatapuram, eds. (University of Ottawa Press, 2020) at pp. 579-589.

**100** Marchildon, J. Canada just committed \$440 million to an international COVID-19 vaccine program. Global Citizen. 25 September 2020. https://www.globalcitizen.org/en/content/canada-220-million-covax/

**101** Raimi, D., Look, W. Robertson, M. Policy options for an equitable transition to a low-emissions future. Common Resources. April 2020. https://www.resourcesmag.org/common-resources/policy-options-equitable-transition-low-emissions-future/ Accessed 7 December 2020

102 Alberta. 2020. "Support for Albertans Affected by Coal Phase Out." https://www.alberta.ca/support-for-coal-workers.aspx,
103 Baicker, K., and M. Marit Rehavi. 2004. "Policy Watch: Trade Adjustment Assistance." Journal of Economic Perspectives 18(2), 239-255

**104** British Columbia. N.d. "Bridging to Retirement Program." https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/industry/forestry/supports-for-forestry-workers/retirement-bridging-program

**105** Arrow, Kenneth J. 1962. "Economic Welfare and the Allocation of Resources for Invention." In The Rate and Direction of Inventive Activity, edited by National Bureau of Economic Research, 609–26. Economic and Social Factors. Princeton University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/jlb/lsz019/

**106** Breznitz, D. 2007. Innovation and the State: Political Choice and Strategies for Growth in Israel, Taiwan, and Ireland. New Haven: Yale University Press.

**107** Breznitz, Dan. 2021. Innovation in Real Places: Strategies for Prosperity in an Unforgiving World. Oxford and New York: Oxford University Press.

**108** Taylor, MZ. 2016. The politics of innovation: Why some countries are better than others at science and technology. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

**109** Herder, M., Graham, JE., Gold, R. (2020). "From discovery to delivery: public sector development of the rVSV-ZEBOV Ebola vaccine." In Journal of Law and the Biosciences, Isz019, https://doi.org/10.1093/jlb/lsz019/

**110** Block, Fred. 2008. "Swimming Against the Current: The Rise of a Hidden Developmental State in the United States." Politics & Society 36 (2): 169–206. University Press.

**111** ibid

**112** ibid

**113** Mathews, John A., and Tong-sŏng Cho. 2000. Tiger Technology: The Creation of a Semiconductor Industry in East Asia. Cambridge Asia-Pacific Studies. Cambridge ; New York: Cambridge University Press.

**114** Mazzucato, Mariana. 2013. The Entrepreneurial State: Debunking Public vs. Private Sector Myths. London: Anthem Press.

115 Weiss, Linda. 2014. America Inc.?: Innovation and Enterprise in the National Security State. Ithaca: Cornell

**116** Benjamin, M., Gagnon, P., Rostamzadeh, N. et al 2019. *Toward Standardization of Data Licenses: The Montreal Data License*. Available online at: https://arxiv.org/pdf/1903.12262.pdf.

**117** Reynolds, C. 2019. *Is Canada getting wise to AI commercialization, or churning out more research?* The Canadian Press, February 7, 2019. Available online at: https://financialpost.com/pmn/business-pmn/is-canada-getting-wise-to-ai-commercialization-or-churning-out-more-research.

**118** Gouvernement de la France. 2018. Intelligence artificielle: "faire de la France un leader ». Available online at : https://www.gouvernement.fr/argumentaire/intelligence-artificielle-faire-de-la-france-un-leader.

**119** The Conference Board of Canada 2018. "How Canada Performs: Innovation." Online accessed September 28 2020, https://www.conferenceboard.ca/hcp/provincial/innovation.aspx

**120** Nicholson, P. 2013. Paradox Lost: Explaining Canada's Research Strength and Innovation Weakness. Ottawa: CCA. Smardon, B. 2014. Asleep at the Switch: The Political Economy of Federal Research and Development Policy. Montreal: McGill-Queen's University Press.

**121** Building a more Inclusive Innovation Economy After the Pandemic. 2020. Special Article Series.

Policy Options (IRPP) and Munk School Innovation Policy Lab. Ottawa and Toronto.

https://policyoptions.irpp.org/magazines/june-2020/building-a-more-inclusive-innovation-economy-after-the-pandemic/

**122** Breznitz, Dan. 2020. *Is this Canada's last chance to revive manufacturing and long-term prosperity?*. Policy Option – IRPP. https://policyoptions.irpp.org/magazines/june-2020/is-this-canadas-last-chance-to-revive-manufacturing-and-long-term-prosperity/

**123** Hirsch, T. "When it comes to innovation, Canada needs more inquisitive minds." Available online https://www. theglobeandmail.com/report-on-business/economy/economy-lab/what-canada-really-needs-are-more-inquisitive-minds/ article14263017/ 2013.

**124** Livingston, Gillian. 2020. From education tech to personalized protective equipment: InkSmith's pandemic pivot. The Globe and Mail. https://www.theglobeandmail.com/featured-reports/article-from-education-tech-to-personalized-protective-equipment-inksmiths/

**125** Taylor, MZ. 2016. The politics of innovation: Why some countries are better than others at science and technology. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

**126** Breznitz, D., Ornston, D. "The Revolutionary Power of Peripheral Agencies: Explaining Radical Policy Innovation in Finland and Israel," *Comparative Political Studies* 46, no. 10 (October 2013).

**127** Breznitz, Dan, and Michael Murphree. 2011. Run of the Red Queen: Government, Innovation, Globalization, and Economic Growth in China. New Haven [Conn.]: Yale University Press.

**128** Wong, Joseph. 2011. Betting on Biotech: Innovation and the Limits of Asia's Developmental State. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.

**129** Ornston, Darius. 2012. When Small States Make Big Leaps: Institutional Innovation and High-Tech Competition in Western Europe. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.

**130** Elder, J. 2019. "A Costly Gap: The Neglect of the Demand Side in Canadian Innovation Policy." IRPP Insight No. 28. Available online at https://irpp.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/A-Costly-Gap-The-Neglect-of-the-Demand-Side-in-Canadian-Innovation-Policy.pdf .

**131** Gold, ER. 2019. "Should Universities Get Out of the Patent Business?" Available online https://www.cigionline.org/articles/ should-universities-get-out-patent-business.

**132** David, PA. 2014. "The Republic of Open Science: The institution's historical origins and prospects for continued vitality." UNU-MERIT Working Papers 2014-082.

**133** Cleantech Group and World Wildlife Fund. 2017. *The Global Cleantech Innovation Index 2017: Which countries look set to produce the next generation of start-ups*? Available online at: http://info.cleantech.com/rs/151-JSY-946/images/Global\_Cleatech\_Innovation\_Index\_2017\_FINAL.pdf.

**134** Cleantech Group. 2020. *Global Cleantech 100: Leading companies and themes in sustainable innovation*. Available online at: https://s3.amazonaws.com/i3.cleantech/uploads/additional\_resources\_pdf/79/179/Cleantech\_Global\_100\_2020\_ Report\_16\_1\_Final.pdf.

**135** Brownlee, M., Elgie, S., Scott, W. *Canada's Next Edge: Why Clean Innovation is Critical for Canada's Economy and How to Get There* (Ottawa: Smart Prosperity Institute, 2017). Available online at https://institute.smartprosperity.ca/sites/default/files/ cleaninnovationinstitutereport-final.pdf

**136** ELYSIS. 2019. ELYSIS Research and Development Center in Saguenay – Construction work officially launched. Available online at: https://www.newswire.ca/news-releases/elysis-research-and-development-center-in-saguenay-construction-work-officially-launched-821398576.html .

**137** Zehavi, A., Breznitz, D. (2017). "Distribution sensitive innovation policies: Conceptualization and empirical examples." Research Policy 46(1): 327-336; Munro, Daniel. 2020. "An Inclusive Innovation Monitor for Canada: A Discussion Paper." Brookfield Institute and the Innovation Policy Lab. https://brookfieldinstitute.ca/wp-content/uploads/An-Inclusive-Innovation-Monitor-for-Canada-ONLINE.pdf

**138** Breznitz, D. Ornston, D., Samford, S. "Mission Critical: The Ends, Means, and Design of Innovation Agencies," *Industrial and Corporate Change* 27, no. 5 (1 October 2018): 883–96; Dan Breznitz and Darius Ornston, "The Politics of Partial Success: Fostering Innovation in Innovation Policy in an Era of Heightened Public Scrutiny," *Socio-Economic Review* 16, no. 4 (1 October 2018): 721–41.

**139** Longworth, D. and F. Milne (August 2020). "COVID-19 and the Lack of Public Health and Government Preparation." Queen's University working paper 1436.

**140** Mohammed, A., R. M. Johnston, C. van der Linden (August 2020). "Public Responses to Policy Reversals: The Case of Mask Usage in Canada during COVID-19." *Canadian Public Policy*, 46(S2): S119-S126.

**141** Jadidzadeh, A. and R. Kneebone (Aug 2020), "Homeless Shelter Flows in Calgary and the Potential Impact of COVID-19." *Canadian Public Policy*, 46(S2): S160-S165.

**142** Qian, Y. and S. Fuller (Aug 2020). "COVID-19 and the Gender Employment Gap among Parents of Young Children." *Canadian Public Policy*, 46(S2): S89-S101.

**143** Cattapan, A. J. M. Acker-Verney, A. Dobrowlsky, T. Findlay, and A. Mandrona (2020). "Community engagement in a time of confinement." *Canadian Public Policy*, forthcoming.

**144** Haeck, C. and P. Lefebvre (July 2020). "Pandemic School Closures May Increase Inequality in Test Scores." *Canadian Public Policy*, 46(S1): S82-S87.

**145** Petit, G. and L. M. Tedds (July 2020). "The Effect of Differences in Treatment of the Canada Emergency Response Benefit across Provincial and Territorial Income Assistance Programs." Canadian Public Policy, 46(S1): S29-S43.

146 https://blogs.worldbank.org/governance/coordinating-pandemic-responses-center-government-what-works-and-why147 Lawson, T. Nathans, L., Hillstrom, M., Fimiani, M., Naglie, N. COVID-19: Recovery and re-opening tracker. McCarthy-

Tetrault. https://www.mccarthy.ca/en/insights/articles/covid-19-recovery-and-re-opening-tracker Accessed 7 December 2020 **148** Nardi, C. 'We don't want conditions': premiers oppose strings attached to \$14B federal COVID-19 aid package. National Post. June 6 2020. https://nationalpost.com/news/canada/trudeau-says-hes-offered-provinces-14-billion-to-help-safely-restartcanada Accessed 7 December 2020

**149** Attorney General of Ontario vs. Attorney General of Canada in the matter of the Greenhouse Gas Poluttions act. SC 38781 https://www.scc-csc.ca/case-dossier/info/sum-som-eng.aspx?cas=38781 Accessed 7 December 2020

**150** Acemoglu, D., V. Chernozhukov, I. Werning, and M. Whinston (May 2020). "A Multi-Risk SIR Model with Optimally Targeted Lockdown." NBER WP 27102.

**151** Alvarez, F. E., D. Argente, and F. Lippi (April 2020). "A Simple Planning Problem for COVID-19 Lockdown." NBER WP 26981.

**152** Atkeson, A. (April 2020b). "How Deadly is COVID-19? Understanding the Difficulties with Estimation of its Fatality Rate." NBER WP 26965.

**153** Atkeson, A. (March 2020a). "What Will be the Economic Impact of COVID-19 in the US? Rough Estimates of Disease Scenarios." NBER WP 26867.

**154** Aum, S., S.Y. Lee, and Y. Shin (May 2020). "Inequality of Fear and Self-Quarantine: Is There a Trade-Off Between GDP and Public Health?" NBER WP 27100.

**155** Azzimonti, M., A. Fogli, F. Perri and M. Ponder (July 2020). "Personal Distance Policies in ECON-EPI Networks." Stony Brook University WP.

**156** Baqaee, D.R., E. Farhi, M. Mina and J. Stock (June 2020). "Policies for a Second Wave." Brookings Papers on Economic Activity Conference Drafts.

**157** Berger, D., KI. Herkenhoff, and S. Mongey (2020). "An SEIR Infectious Disease Model with Testing and Conditional Quarantine." Becker-Friedman Institute WP 2020-25.

**158** Bodenstein, M., G. Corsetti, and L. Guerrieri (April 2020). "Personal distancing and Supply Disruptions in a Pandemic." FEDS Discussion Paper 2020-031.

**159** Cotton, C., B. Crowley, B. Kashi, H. Lloyd-Ellis, and F. Tremblay (Aug 2020). "Quantifying the Economic Impacts of COVID-19 Policy Responses on Canada's Provinces in (Almost) Real Time." Queen's University WP.

**160** Eichenbaum, M.S., S. Rebelo, and M. Trabant (March 2020). "The Macroeconomics of Epidemics." NBER WP 26882. **161** Farboodi, M., G. Jarosch, and R. Shimer (April 2020). "Internal and External Effects of Personal distancing in a Pandemic." NBER WP 27059.

**162** Favero, C., A. Ichino, and A. Rustichini (April 2020). "Restarting the Economy while Saving Lives under COVID-19." CEPR Discussion Paper DP14664.

**163** Glover, A., J. Heathcote, D. Krueger, and J-V. Ríos-Rull (April 2020). "Health versusWealth: On the Distributional Effects of Controlling a Pandemic." NBER WP 27046.

**164** Guerrieri, V., G. Lorenzoni, L. Straub, and I. Werning (April 2020), "Macroeconomic Implications of COVID-19: Can Negative Supply Shocks Cause Demand Shortages?" NBER WP 26918.

**165** Jones, C.J., T. Philippon, and V. Venkateswaran (April 2020). "Optimal Mitigation Policies in a Pandemic: Personal Distancing and Working from Home." NBER WP 26984.

**166** Krueger, D., H. Uhlig, and T. Xie (April 2020). "Macroeconomic Dynamics and Reallocation in an Epidemic." NBER WP 27047.

**167** Lin, Z. and C.M. Meissner (May 2020). "Health vs Wealth? Public Health Policies and the Economy during COVID-19." NBER WP 27099.

**168** Ludvigson, S.C., S. Ma, and S. Ng (April 2020). "COVID19 and the Macroeconomic Effects of Costly Disasters." NBER WP 26987.

169 Moser, C.A. and P. Yared (April 2020). "Pandemic Lockdown: The Role of Government Commitment." NBER WP 27062.170 Mulligan, C.B. (April 2020). "Economic Activity and the Value of Medical Innovation During a Pandemic." NBER WP 27060.

171 Rampini, A. (April 2020). "Sequential Lifting of COVID-19 Interventions with Population Heterogeneity." NBER WP 27063.
172 Rio-Chanona, R.M., P. Mealy, A. Pichler, F. Lafond, and J.D. Farmer (April 14, 2020). "Supply and Demand Shocks in the COVID-19 Pandemic: And Industry and Occupation Perspective." Oxford Institute for New Economic Thinking WP 2020-05.
173 Stock, J.H. (March 2020). "Data Gaps and the Policy Response to the Novel Coronavirus." NBER WP 26902.

**174** Yang, J. Allen, K. Ontario rejected its own public health agency's advice when it launched its colour coded plan for COVID-19 restrictions. Toronto Star November 11 2020. Accessed 7 December 2020

**175** Gunderson, M. (Aug 2020). "Playbook for Labour Policies for Novel Shocks Such as COVID-19." *Canadian Public Policy*, 46(S2): S182-S191.

**176** Malena, C., R. Forster, and J. Singh (Dec 2004). "Social accountability: an introduction to the concept and emerging practice." *World Bank Social Development Papers* no 76.

177 I Rowe, G. and L. Frewer (2005). "A typology of public engagement mechanisms." Science, Technology, & Human Values,
178 Burgess, M., K. O'Doherty, and D. Secko (May 2008). "Biobanking in British Columbia: discussions of the future of personalized medicine through deliberative public engagement." *Future Medicine*, 5: 285-296.

179 Peacock, S. (2015). "Public attitudes and values in priority setting." Israel Journal of Health Policy Research, 4: article no 29.
180 Martuzzi, M. and J. Tickner (2004), eds. The precautionary principle: protecting public health, the environment and the future of our children. World Health Organization.

**181** Royal Society of Chemistry. COVID-19 Policy: Applying the precautionary principle when science is uncertain. 15 April 2020 https://www.rsc.org/news-events/articles/2020/apr/covid-19-policy-applying-the-precautionary-principle-when-the-science-is-uncertain/ Accessed 2 November 2020

**182** Dove, N., Wong, J., Gustafson, R. Corneil, T. Impact of school closures on learning, child and family wellbeing during the COVID-19 pandemic. BC Centres for Disease Control September 2020. http://www.bccdc.ca/Health-Info-Site/Documents/Public\_health\_COVID-19\_reports/Impact\_School\_Closures\_COVID-19.pdf Accessed December 7 2020

183 CDC (August 2020). "COVID-19 Hospitalization and Death by Age." U.S. Center for Disease Control. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/covid-data/investigations-discovery/hospitalization-death-by-age.html accessed September 29, 2020.
184 Status of Women Canada. 2018. "Introduction to GBA+: The History of GBA+ - Domestic and International Milestones." Government of Canada, accessed June 12, 2020. https://cfc-swc.gc.ca/gba-acs/course-cours/eng/modA1/modA1\_01\_04.html.
185 Cameron, A., and L.M. Tedds (2020). "Gender-based Analysis Plus (GBA+) and the move to Intersectionality Theory:

Overview, Modified Framework, and Case Study. School of Public Policy Working Paper. **186** McPhail, Beverly A. 2003. "A Feminist Policy Analysis Framework: Through a Gendered Lens." *The Social Policy Journal* 2 (2-3):39-61. doi: 10.1300/J185v02n02\_04

**187** Hankivsky, Olena, Daniel Grace, Gemma Hunting, Melissa Giesbrecht, Alycia Fridkin, Sarah Rudrum, Olivier Ferlatte, and Natalie Clark. 2014. "An intersectionality-based policy analysis framework: Critical reflections on a methodology for advancing equity." International Journal for Equity in Health 13 (1):119. doi: 10.1186/s12939-014-0119-x.

**188** Alum, H. Lockdown fatigue, sense of invincibility causing more COVID-19 in young people, scientists say. CBC 19 July 2020. https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/british-columbia/lockdown-fatigue-invincibility-causing-more-covid-19-%20infections-in-young-people-1.5655401 Accessed 5 November 2020



#### The Royal Society of Canada

282 Somerset Street West Ottawa, Ontario K2P 0J6 www.rsc-src.ca 613-991-6990

#### La Société royale du Canada

282, rue Somerset ouest Ottawa (Ontario) K2P OJ6 www.rsc-src.ca 613-991-6990